Florida International University FIU Digital Commons

FIU Electronic Theses and Dissertations

University Graduate School

10-19-2021

Understanding the Underlying Mechanism of Age-Related Underactive Bladder and Proposing a Treatment Option to Mitigate its Symptoms

Arezoo Gerami Pour Florida International University, agera008@fiu.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.fiu.edu/etd

Part of the Bioelectrical and Neuroengineering Commons

Recommended Citation

Gerami Pour, Arezoo, "Understanding the Underlying Mechanism of Age-Related Underactive Bladder and Proposing a Treatment Option to Mitigate its Symptoms" (2021). *FIU Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. 4898.

https://digitalcommons.fiu.edu/etd/4898

This work is brought to you for free and open access by the University Graduate School at FIU Digital Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in FIU Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of FIU Digital Commons. For more information, please contact dcc@fiu.edu.

FLORIDA INTERNATIONAL UNIVERSITY

Miami, Florida

UNDERSTANDING THE UNDERLYING MECHANISM OF AGE-RELATED UNDERACTIVE BLADDER AND PROPOSING A TREATMENT OPTION TO MITIGATE ITS SYMPTOMS

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of

the requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

in

BIOMEDICAL ENGINEERING

by

Arezoo Gerami Pour

2021

To: Dean John Volakis College of Engineering and Computing

This dissertation, written by Arezoo Gerami Pour, and entitled Understanding the Underlying Mechanism of Age-Related Underactive Bladder and Proposing a Treatment Option to Mitigate its Symptoms, having been approved in respect to style and intellectual content, is referred to you for judgment.

We have read this dissertation and recommend that it be approved.

Jamie C. Theobald

Ranu Jung

Jessica Ramella-Roman

Jacob McPherson

Zachary Danziger, Major Professor

Date of Defense: Oct 19, 2021

The dissertation of Arezoo Gerami Pour is approved.

Dean John Volakis College of Engineering and Computing

Andrés G. Gil Vice President for Research and Economic Development and Dean of the University Graduate School

Florida International University, 2021

© Copyright 2021 by Arezoo Gerami Pour

All rights reserved.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to express my gratitude to the Biomedical Engineering Department and the Coulter Foundation endowment for their professional and financial assistance. I would like to thank Dr. Zachary Danziger, my supervisor, for his encouragement, assistance, and challenging me to think scientifically during my time at the Applied Neural Interfaces Laboratory. Thanks for your willingness to maintain a supportive and scientific atmosphere for the lab and for supporting me to attend different conferences that encouraged scientific discussions and training. Thanks for providing all the facilities I needed to complete this project. I would like to thank my committee for their helpful assistance and feedback during my project.

I would like to thank my friends in the Biomedical Engineering department for their scientific and emotional support. I would like to thank Nicolas Diaz for his help in doing histology. Finally, I would like to express my heartfelt gratitude to my parents and husband for their unwavering support during my scientific pursuit.

ABSTRACT OF THE DISSERTATION

UNDERSTANDING THE UNDERLYING MECHANISM OF AGE-RELATED UNDERACTIVE BLADDER AND PROPOSING A TREATMENT OPTION TO MITIGATE ITS SYMPTOMS

by

Arezoo Gerami Pour

Florida International University, 2021

Miami, Florida

Professor Zachary Danziger, Major Professor

The prevalence of underactive bladder (UAB) increases with age, suggesting a link between age-related processes and lower urinary tract (LUT) symptoms; however, the underlying mechanisms of age-related UAB are poorly understood. UAB is characterized by inefficient voiding and bladder overdistension. Due to the unknown etiology, current therapeutic options are insufficient. Thus, a detailed understanding of its mechanism will facilitate the discovery of new treatments.

In Aim 1, we investigated the relationship between age and systems-level function of the LUT reflexes in three age groups of rats, testing the hypothesis that aging causes voiding reflexes to weaken. We systematically investigated the reflex bladder contractions evoked by combinations of rates of urethral infusion and bladder fill volumes as a function of age. We found that, with the same flow rate, older animals had fewer urethral to bladder contractions (augmenting reflex) than younger animals. Furthermore, old animals needed more fluid in their bladders before augmenting reflex (AR) could be triggered, suggesting a delay in switching the LUT to "voiding mode."

In Aim 2, we recorded electroneurography from the sensory branch of the pudendal nerve (urethral afferents) in young and old rats to map how the interaction of age and urethral flow rate evokes discharges from sensory neurons. We found that both structural changes in the urethra and degradation of the urethral afferents are responsible for attenuated urethral afferent activation. This is critical because AR is mediated by urethral sensory nerves, and this reflex is required for efficient voiding.

Aim 3 examined the effects of percutaneous pudendal nerve stimulation on UAB symptoms in aged rats. The bladder was filled, and the stimulation was applied continuously until the end of the first voiding contraction. We showed that the minimally invasive stimulation of urethral nerves could increase voiding efficiency and prevent the bladder from overdistension.

In conclusion, we found that there is functional weakening in LUT reflexes with age and reduced urethral sensation, urethral muscle and nerve degradation might be contributing factors to that. This study helps us understand the underlying mechanism of age-related UAB, identify the mechanistic targets and develop therapies to mitigate its symptoms.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER	PAGE
1. INTRODUCTION AND LITERATURE REVIEW	1
1.1 Introduction to lower urinary tract system	1
1.2 Underactive bladder	2
1.2.1 UAB diagnostic tests	3
1.2.2 Pathophysiology of UAB	3
1.2.3 Treatment options for UAB	4
1.3 Rational	5
1.4 Design goals	7
1.5 Specific aims	8
1.5.1 Specific Aim 1: Determine the sensitivity of urethral flow-evoked	
voiding reflexes with age in the rat	8
1.5.2 Specific Aim 2: Quantify the effect of age on pudendal afferents	
activity in response to urethral flow in rats	8
1.5.3 Specific Aim 3: Evaluate how percutaneous electrical stimulation of	
pudendal nerve influences UAB symptoms	9
1.6 Organization of the dissertation	9
2. EVALUATE THE SENSITIVITY OF URETHRAL FLOW-EVOKED	
VOIDING REFLEXES DECLINE WITH AGE IN THE RAT	11
2.1 Introduction to age-related underactive bladder	11
2.2 Ethical approval	13
2.3 Experimental protocol	14
2.4 Data Analysis	17
2.4.1 Bladder contraction detection and classification	17
2.4.2 Identification of bladder volume threshold for voiding reflex	
occurrence	18
2.4.3 Bladder volume computation	19
2.5 Results	19
2.5.1 Age-related sensitivity reduction of AR to urethral infusion	19
2.5.2 Age-related dysregulation of AR and MR	22
2.5.3 Bladder contractions characteristics	24
2.5.4 Urethra flow-evoked external urethral sphincter response	24
2.6 Discussion	25
3. AGE IS ASSOCIATED WITH REDUCED URETHRAL PRESSURE AND	
SENSITIVITY IN RAT	
3.1 Introduction age-related underactive bladder	
3.2 Methods	40
3.2.1 Ethical approval	40
3.2.2 Experimental Protocol	40
3.3 Data Analysis	42

3.4 Results	43
3.5.1 Two Contributing Factors to Age-Related Loss of Urethral Sensitivity: Mechanical and Non-Mechanical	40
3.5.2 Computing the Contributions of Mechanical and Non-Mechanical	
Factors to Total Sensory Loss	47
3.5.3 Drivers of Urethral Sensation Loss	
3.5.4 Future Directions.	
4. POTENTIAL OF PERCUTANEOUS ELECTRICAL STIMULATION OF	
PUDENDAL NERVE IN MITIGATING UNDRACTIVE BLADDER	
SYMPTOMS IN AGED RATS	62
4.1 Introduction to UAB and treatment options	62
4.2 Method	63
4.3 Experimental protocol	
4.4 Results	
4.5 Discussion	
5. DISSERTATION CONCLUSIONS	74
5.1 Summary	74
5.2 Conclusions	75
5.3 Limitations	76
5 4 Future work	77
	••••••
REFERENCES	79
57177 A	00
V11/A	

LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURE	PAGE
Figure 1. The activation of LUT reflexes in the nervous system	30
Figure 2. The bladder pressure was recorded (red trace) while the bladder was filled continuously	30
Figure 3. AR activation sensitivity to urethral flow shows fewer evoked bladder contractions in older animals than in younger ones at equal flow rates	31
Figure 4. The pudendal nerve activity (gray line) and urethral pressure (dashed black line) before (A) and after (B) lidocaine anesthesia of the urethra to 11ml/min urethral flow (black arrow).	31
Figure 5. The bladder pressure (gray) at the last 30 minutes of the block in two old and two young animals after lidocaine anesthesia of the urethra in response to the urethral infusion (vertical black lines).	32
Figure 6. Examples from three experiments beginning at the first bladder contraction in the block for a young (top), mature (middle), and old (bottom) animal	33
Figure 7. Delay in the activation of AR with respect to the activation of MR for each block, separated by age groups	34
Figure 8. As rats age, the AR is active later in the bladder filling cycle	35
Figure 9. The peak-to-peak amplitude of bladder contractions decreases with age, and the duration of bladder contractions increases with age	36
Figure 10. The bursting activity of the EUS superimposed on the bladder pressure for three animals from different age groups	37
Figure 11. Experimental setup for nerve recording (19)	54
Figure 12. The initial transient response of pudendal nerve activity (ENG) and urethral pressure to flow	54
Figure 13. The transient response of pudendal afferent activity to a subset of the different applied flow rates in a typical young and old animal	55

Figure 14. The initial transient peak response of pudendal nerve activity to urethral infusion in young (black) and old (grey) animals.	56
Figure 15. The flow-evoked urethral pressure response in young and old animals	57
Figure 16. Old rats (diamonds) have smaller urethral sensory responses than young rats (circles) to equivalent pressures generated by experimentally applied flow rates (color)	58
Figure 17. Axonal myelin in the sensory branch of the pudendal nerve is thicker in younger animals.	59
Figure 18. The examples of axons in the sensory branch of the pudendal nerve in young and old animals	60
Figure 19. Decomposition of age-related urethral sensory loss into its mechanical and non-mechanical factors	61
Figure 20. The EUS EMG in response to different stimulation amplitudes	70
Figure 21. Bladder pressure (blue) and voiding efficiency (VE) in response to different stimulation amplitudes in an aging animal	71
Figure 22. Bladder pressure (blue) and voiding efficiency (VE) in response to different stimulation amplitudes in an aging animal	71
Figure 23. Bladder pressure (blue) and voiding efficiency (VE) in response to different stimulation amplitudes in an aging animal	72
Figure 24. A: the change in voiding efficiency (VE) in old animals (each color corresponds to one animal) in response to different stimulation amplitudes	73

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

Lower urinary tract	LUT
Underactive bladder	UAB
Bladder capacity	BC
Augmenting reflex	AR
Micturition reflex	MR
Electroneurogram	ENG
External urethral sphincter	EUS
Electromyogram	EMG
Root mean square	RMS
Voiding efficiency	VE
Threshold stimulation	TS

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION AND LITERATURE REVIEW

1.1 Introduction to lower urinary tract system

The lower urinary tract (LUT) system has two important functions: continence (holding urine in the bladder) and micturition (complete emptying of urine from the bladder at an opportune time). In these processes, the sympathetic (hypogastric nerve), parasympathetic (pelvic nerve), and somatic (pudendal nerve) nervous systems are all engaged, and neural circuits in the spinal cord, brainstem, and higher centers are responsible for regulating them (5). Pelvic afferents are activated by detrusor muscle distention and send the sensory input from the bladder to the spinal cord. Excitatory efferent signals are sent to the detrusor through the pelvic efferents (23, 43). The hypogastric nerve innervates the ureters and bladder neck, and it provides information related to bladder pressure and/or tension (87, 95), (39). The pudendal afferents carry the sensory information related to the urethra to coordinate continence and voiding, as well as transmitting local cutaneous, rectal, and genital sensations (58, 82). The pudendal afferents are activated when the urethral flow distends the urethra. Since afferent activity was equivalent in response to equal pressures imposed by static or moving fluids, it might indicate that they exclusively respond to pressure (52). However, the urothelium may be sensitive to several dynamic variables such as flow, turbulence, distention, pressure, and derivatives of any of these variables (22). Therefore, more study is needed to map the link between urethral and pudendal afferent output (20).

We require a network of intact reflexes to store and empty the urine. Pelvic afferents are responsible for continuously monitoring bladder volume and/or pressure. When the bladder contains little urine, the guarding reflex prevents unintentional leaking by contracting the urethra and relaxing the detrusor muscle. The LUT is considered to be in continence mode (2, 28) at low bladder pressures, but if the pelvic afferents become sufficiently active, the LUT switches to voiding mode. In this mode, fluid entering the urethra activates pudendal afferents, which initiates a reflex (augmenting reflex) from pudendal afferents to pelvic efferents, relaxing the urethra and causing a bladder contraction (4, 28). For effective voiding, the augmenting reflex (AR) must be activated (66, 67, 78). High levels of pelvic afferent activity activate another reflex from pelvic afferents to pelvic efferents (micturition reflex (MR)), which can elicit a bladder contraction even if there is no urethra infusion (21).

1.2 Underactive bladder

Approximately 10% of elderly people in the U.S. have underactive bladder (UAB) and this number is expected to approach 20% by 2050 (88, 90). UAB is characterized by incomplete bladder emptying, high residual volume, and high bladder capacity (60, 102). The etiology of UAB is multifactorial, leading some urologists to consider it an incurable problem (60, 102). The current treatment options are pharmacotherapy, stem cell therapy, and neuromodulation; however, none of these options are viewed by clinicians or patients as sufficient to manage UAB (60, 102). The lack of entirely effective treatment, in part, is due to the unresolved etiology of UAB. Due to the substantial burden of age-related UAB on global healthcare expenses, a thorough understanding of its mechanism is vital to facilitate the discovery of new treatments for the disease.

1.2.1 UAB diagnostic tests

There are several methods for identifying UAB including, physical examination, catheterization, imaging tests, and urodynamic tests. Physical examination tests evaluate the physical and cognitive ability as this can impact the ability to control the bladder. The catheterization is done by inserting a flexible tube into the bladder through the urethra to measure post-void residual (PVR) volume. The portable bladder scanner is used to measure PVR and determine bladder voiding efficiency. Additionally, it eliminates the danger of damage, pain, and contamination associated with the use of a catheter to determine PVR. Cystometry is a test that identifies UAB with the observation of a large bladder capacity (the bladder volume required to evoke a bladder voiding contraction), a poor sensation of bladder distention, abnormally high bladder compliance, and lack of detrusor contractility (11).

1.2.2 Pathophysiology of UAB

Given the critical role of an intact afferent system in voiding function, UAB may develop when afferent activity levels are impaired (11). Age-related loss of nerve fibers impairs the central and peripheral nervous system, and the resultant loss of function affects the LUT system's functionality directly. Recent studies have emphasized the deficiency in either afferent signaling or the integrative control of sensory information in spinal and supraspinal centers, which results in weak efferent signaling (27, 34, 61). Degradation of the pudendal nerve with increasing age, for example, may impair the functionality of voiding reflexes because the failure of pudendal afferents can lead to UAB-like symptoms (66, 67, 78, 86). Pelvic afferents have an essential role in bladder fullness sensation. An age-related decrease in lysosomal function in the urothelium can change pelvic afferents' signaling and

alter the bladder's physiological function (84). The amount of acetylcholinesterase-positive nerve in the human bladder decreases with age, suggesting reduced parasympathetic innervation (34). With aging, structural and biochemical changes in nerve fibers, as well as a decrease in regeneration and reinnervating capabilities, degrade the central and peripheral neural systems (91), which can affect the LUT reflexes directly. Oshiro et al. demonstrated that the external urethral sphincter atrophy occurs in elderly rats (62), and urethral sphincter muscle fibers appear to be replaced by connective tissue increases throughout aging (96), both of which could result in a more compliant urethra. Histological studies also revealed an age-related decrease in the number and density of striated urethral sphincter nerve and muscle fibers (70). If the urethra becomes more compliant, the lumen will experience less pressure at the same flow rate. Because urethral afferents are thought to be driven by urethral pressure (53), this could reduce the activity of pudendal afferents, resulting in fewer AR contractions. The AR is required for effective voiding, and its disruption results in UAB-like symptoms (66, 68, 78). Therefore, the impairment of lower urinary tract (LUT) reflexes resulting from the degradation of bladder and urethral nerves may contribute to UAB symptoms.

1.2.3 Treatment options for UAB

The goal of treatment for under bladder (UAB) is to enhance bladder emptying and quality of life. Regular bladder emptying decreases intravesical bladder pressure and distension. Patients with UAB usually use Intermittent catheterization to empty their bladder at regular intervals; however, it increases the risk of infection (11). Stimulation of bladder muscarinic receptors by agonists such as bethanechol or carbachol has shown beneficial effects in treating UAB. However, they can cause side effects, including nausea, vomiting, diarrhea, difficulty with visual accommodation, and headache. Sacral neuromodulation is a therapy option for neurogenic bladder dysfunction that is currently used in many bladder research studies (38, 72, 75). It can empty the bladder by direct activation of the parasympathetic efferent innervation of the bladder. However, to prevent dyssynergic contraction of the external urethral sphincter, this technique needs dorsal afferents transection. But, by transection of the dorsal nerve roots, remaining sensations and responses such as defecation, erection, and ejaculation are abolished (7). Therefore, there is great interest in alternative approaches that activate the detrusor and cause voiding via electrical stimulation.

Peripheral nerve stimulation is an alternative to sacral nerve stimulation for targeting restoring bladder function with more specificity. Sacral neuromodulation targets the entire sacral nerve instead of pudendal nerve stimulation, which targets a specific nerve or nerve branch. A recent animal study indicates activating sensory fibers in the pudendal nerve can cause bladder emptying (7, 40) by inducing synergic bladder activation and external urethral relaxation (6). This method would be significantly less invasive than sacral anterior root stimulation. The risk associated with surgically exposing the pudendal nerve and implanting electrodes for experimental purposes, however, limits its potential to go further. 1.3 Rational

The prevalence of underactive bladder symptoms increases with age; however, the underlying mechanism of age-related bladder dysfunction is unclear, and its multifactorial nature further complicates attempts to understand it. Currently available therapeutic options include medication, stem cell therapy, and neuromodulation; however, none of these approaches is deemed sufficient by doctors or patients to manage underactive bladder symptoms (60, 102). Part of the reason for the absence of entirely effective treatment is the unresolved etiology. Given the significant impact of the age-related underactive bladder on global healthcare costs, detailed knowledge of its mechanism is critical for facilitating the development of innovative treatments for this disease.

Aging may lead to LUT dysfunction by compromising the state-dependent network of reflexes responsible for properly maintaining continence and efficient micturition. We require a network of intact reflexes to store and empty the urine and aging might disrupt their coordination. Augmenting reflex is a reflex from urethral afferents to bladder efferent whose activation is required for efficient voiding, and the lack of that leads to UAB-like symptoms (67, 78). Evaluating the functional changes in the LUT reflexes with age may help us understand how aging disrupts the normal function of the bladder.

Degeneration of peripheral nerves associated with age may have a role in the multifactorial pathogenesis of the underactive bladder. The degree of sensory neuropathy caused by diabetes, multiple sclerosis, and normal aging all increase with age and have a strong correlation with UAB (18, 27, 49, 74). By silencing (78, 80) or transecting the urethral afferents (68), animals' voiding efficiency is significantly reduced, indicating that these afferents play a key part in UAB symptoms. Furthermore, people with UAB usually have decreased urethral sensation (26, 47, 63), which made us speculate that reduction in the urethral sensory outflow might be one of the contributing factors to UAB. There are two likely sources from which a reduction in urethral sensory outflow might arise. First, hypotrophy of the pudendal nerve that carries urethral afferents could directly reduce

pudendal afferent activity by damaging fibers that convey urethral sensation. Second, an increase in compliance of the urethral muscle with age could reduce the afferent signaling during a void. As the bladder pushes fluid into the urethra, increases in intraurethral pressure or urethral wall stress drive afferent activation (52); therefore, the same amount of fluid entering a more compliant urethra generates less pressure and wall stress, and in turn, less afferent signaling.

Recent animal and human research show that electrical stimulation (ES) of the pudendal nerve promotes the augmenting reflex and thereby improves bladder voiding in UAB models (13, 66, 98). If age-related loss of urethral sensitivity contributes to geriatric UAB by impairing voiding reflexes, improving the signaling of the pudendal nerve by electrical stimulation might regain some lost function. Therefore, we explored the feasibility of utilizing percutaneous stimulation of the pudendal nerve to improve UAB symptoms. If percutaneous stimulation of the pudendal nerve can improve voiding efficiency in our animal study, it would open a transformative new approach for treating age-related UAB by achieving non-surgical direct access to the human pudendal nerve.

1.4 Design goals

The objectives of this study are to investigate the effect of aging on the dysfunction of LUT reflexes; quantify the contributions to pudendal afferent loss of sensitivity from mechanical factors, which change the pressure the urethra experiences in response to flow, and non-mechanical factors, which are putatively intrinsic to the nerve itself; and to determine if percutaneous stimulation of the pudendal nerve can mitigate UAB-like symptoms using *in vivo* rat models.

1.5 Specific aims

1.5.1 Specific Aim 1: Determine the sensitivity of urethral flow-evoked voiding reflexes with age in the rat

We assessed the ability of fluid entering the urethra at different rates to evoke a bladder contraction as a function of bladder volume and age in three groups of anesthetized rats (young 4-7 months, mature 11-14 months, and old 18-24 months). To understand how aging affects voiding reflexes, we evaluated the reliability of the AR and MR as a function of age, rate of urethral infusion, and bladder fullness. We controlled bladder volume (to activate the pelvic afferents) and urethra flow rate (to activate the urethral afferents) independently using nested catheters that allowed us to fill the bladder and urethra and prevent bladder contractions from expelling urine through the urethra (which is blocked by the catheter) (10, 20, 21). An increase in the urethral flow rate needed to trigger the AR would implicate the sensitivity reduction of AR with age as a contributing factor to UAB. Additionally, to evaluate the possibility of reflex dysregulation with age, we compared the bladder volume at which AR and MR occur in different age groups.

1.5.2 Specific Aim 2: Quantify the effect of age on pudendal afferents activity in response to urethral flow in rats

We evaluated the reduction in urethral sensory with age by recording pudendal afferents activity (electroneurogram (ENG)) and comparing its transient response to flow in young and old animals while we infused the urethra with fluid. The sensory branch of pudendal nerve histologically was examined, and the pressures that developed in the urethra during infusion were measured to understand the driving factors of afferent reduction. While Aim 1 investigated the functionality of LUT reflexes with age, Aim 2 focused on understanding

the age-related urethral sensory loss and helps delineate the mechanical and nonmechanical (neuropathy) factors to that.

1.5.3 Specific Aim 3: Evaluate how percutaneous electrical stimulation of pudendal nerve influences UAB symptoms

We assessed the effectiveness of percutaneous stimulation of the pudendal nerve on UAB symptoms in aged rats. We used a standard urodynamic filling protocol to fill the bladder and apply the stimulation continuously until the end of first observed voiding contraction. The stimulation was applied with a fixed excitatory frequency and different amplitudes. The performance of stimulation on voiding efficiency and bladder capacity was compared with no-stimulation control. These are outcome measures that are relevant to UAB symptoms, and our results showed that the stimulation could increase the voiding efficiency and prevent the bladder from overdistension, which would suggest that percutaneous stimulation of the pudendal nerve may be a viable future therapeutic target for new UAB therapies.

1.6 Organization of the dissertation

Chapter 1 is an introduction to the dissertation that addresses the design goals, the rational, specific aims and organization of the dissertation.

Chapter 2 evaluates the functionality of urethra to bladder reflex with age. We also evaluate the strength of bladder contractions and possibility of delay in the activation of voiding reflexes.

Chapter 3 examines the age-related loss of urethral signaling capability by measuring the afferent activity directly. The age-related changes of urethral tissue (by measuring urethral pressure) and histological changes of urethral afferents with age are evaluated.

Chapter 4 describes the potential of percutaneous stimulation of urethral afferents in improving UAB symptoms in aged rats.

Chapter 5 focuses on the significance of the dissertation, its impact, limitations and the future works that can be addressed to understand the age-related UAB.

CHAPTER 2

EVALUATE THE SENSITIVITY OF URETHRAL FLOW-EVOKED VOIDING REFLEXES DECLINE WITH AGE IN THE RAT

2.1 Introduction to age-related underactive bladder

This chapter was previously published in the American Journal of Physiology-Renal Physiology (32).

Approximately 10% of elderly people in the U.S. have underactive bladder (UAB), and this number is expected to approach 20% by 2050 (40, 42). UAB is characterized by incomplete bladder emptying and high residual volume, and its etiology is multifactorial, leading some urologists to consider UAB an incurable problem (88, 90). The current treatment options are pharmacotherapy, stem cell therapy, and neuromodulation; however, none of these options are viewed by clinicians or patients as sufficient to manage UAB (60, 102). The lack of completely effective treatment, in part, is due to the unresolved etiology of UAB. Due to the substantial burden of age-related UAB on global healthcare expenses, a thorough understanding of its mechanism is vital to facilitate the discovery of new treatments for the disease.

Age-related loss of nerve fibers impairs the central and peripheral nervous system, and the resultant loss of function affects the LUT directly. Recent studies have emphasized the deficiency in either afferent signaling or the integrative control of sensory information in spinal and supraspinal centers, which results in weak efferent signaling (27, 34, 41, 61, 91). Degradation of the pudendal nerve with increasing age, for example, may impair the functionality of voiding reflexes because the failure of pudendal afferents can lead to UAB-

like symptoms (66, 68, 78, 86). Pelvic afferents have an important role in bladder fullness sensation, and age-related decrease in lysosomal function in urothelium can change the signaling of pelvic afferents and alter the physiological function of the bladder (84). The amount of acetylcholinesterase-positive nerve in human bladder decreases with age, suggesting reduced parasympathetic innervation (34). Therefore, the impairment of lower urinary tract (LUT) reflexes resulting from degradation of bladder and urethral nerves may contribute to UAB symptoms.

Age-related attenuation of peripheral nerves may also lead to LUT dysfunction by compromising the state-dependent network of reflexes responsible for properly maintaining continence and efficient micturition. Pelvic afferents monitor bladder volume and/or pressure continuously. When the bladder contains little fluid, the guarding reflex prevents unintended leaking by contracting the urethra and relaxing the detrusor muscle. At low bladder pressures, the LUT is said to be in continence mode (2, 28), but once the pelvic afferents become sufficiently active, the LUT transitions to voiding mode. In this mode, fluid entering the urethra activates pudendal afferents, which triggers a reflex from pudendal afferents to pelvic efferent (augmenting reflex) that relaxes the urethra and leads to a bladder contraction (2, 4, 28, 33, 65). The activation of the augmenting reflex (AR) is necessary for efficient voiding (66, 67, 78, 86). High levels of pelvic afferent activity trigger another reflex from pelvic afferents to pelvic efferents (micturition reflex (MR)) whose activation alone (regardless of urethra infusion) is sufficient to evoke a bladder contraction (21). The bladder volume required for activation of the AR (VOLAR) is approximately 75% of the bladder volume required for activation of MR (VOL_{MR}) in young rats (21, 94), and the potential for fluid in the urethra to trigger AR persists for the entire

time that the LUT is in "voiding mode" (Figure 1). Therefore, the reduced sensation of pudendal and pelvic nerves with increasing age may disrupt the activation of urinary tract reflexes and lead to UAB.

In this study, we assessed the ability of fluid entering the urethra at different rates to evoke a bladder contraction as a function of bladder volume and age in anesthetized rats. To understand how aging affects voiding reflexes, we evaluated the reliability of the AR and MR as a function of age, rate of urethral infusion, and bladder fullness. We controlled the bladder volume (to activate the pelvic afferents) and urethra flow rate (to activate the urethral afferents) independently by using nested catheters that allowed us to fill the bladder and urethra and prevented bladder contractions from expelling urine through the urethra (which was blocked by the catheter) (21, 45, 46). Furthermore, infusing the urethra during continuous bladder filling allowed us to compare the volume at which AR and MR occur in different age groups.

Methods

2.2 Ethical approval

All animal care and experimental procedures were reviewed and approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee at Florida International University. Three groups of young (n=12, 4-7 months), mature (n=12, 11-14 months), and old (n=12, 18-24 months) female Sprague-Dawley rats (Charles River, Charleston, SC, USA) were used in this study, and all animals received food and water ad libitum. All studies were acute. The young and mature rats were bought from Charles River, and rats in the "old" group were kept for 6 to 12 months in an animal care facility under a 12-hour light/dark cycle until they reached the appropriate age for the study. In total, we conducted the protocol on 13

young, 14 mature, and 23 old animals, but we excluded 13 from this cohort (1 in young, 2 in mature, and 11 in old groups) from all reported analysis because we never observed a reflex bladder contraction to urethral infusion under any condition during the study in these animals. Lluel et al. showed that 20% of aged Wistar rats had no bladder contractions, and 60% of them had unstable bladder contractions before voiding in cytometry measurements (56). We also acquired 18 additional animals on which we were unable to perform the experiment (8 died in their home cages of old age, 5 died during or did not respond to anesthesia, and 5 suffered nerve or urethral tissue damage during surgery).

Animals were anesthetized initially with isoflurane gas followed by injecting 1.2g/kg urethane (dissolved as 0.2 mg ml-1 in 0.9% saline solution) subcutaneously using a 27-gauge needle. The foot pinch reflex of animals was tested one hour after injection, and the supplemental doses (0.1 g/kg, every 30 minutes) were injected until the foot withdrawal reflex abated. We used urethane because it provides a stable depth of anesthesia and preserves the urinary tract reflexes in animal studies (57). The body temperature, heart rate (determined via ECG), and vaginal impedance (as a surrogate marker for the estrous cycle (44)) (Stoelting, Illinois) of animals were measured.

Animals were euthanized by intraperitoneal injection of Sodium Pentobarbital after the experiment.

2.3 Experimental protocol

The bladder was exposed via an abdominal incision, and we passed a double-lumen catheter (outer: PE 205 and inner: PE 90, heat-flared tips) through a small incision in the apex of the bladder dome. The outer catheter was tied in place with a suture at the incision site around the flared tip and placed in series with a pressure transducer to monitor bladder

pressure (sampled at 100Hz). The inner catheter extended through the intravesical space and was tied around the proximal urethra, preventing the bladder from voiding through the urethra (Figure 2B). The distal urethral outlet was not obstructed, allowing the fluid introduced to the urethra via the internal catheter to exit distally. We used two computercontrolled infusion pumps to infuse independently room temperature 0.9% saline solution (sodium chloride in distilled water, 154 mM) to the bladder and the urethra. Electromyogram of the external urethral sphincter (EUS) was recorded in a subset of animals by inserting two insulated stainless-steel wires (de-insulated at the tips) percutaneously into the EUS (bandpass filtered from 3 to 3000 Hz, 1000×amplification, sampled at 4000 Hz). All data were recorded on a PowerLab 16/35 system (ADInstruments, Colorado Springs, CO).

Each experiment started with three bladder fills with room temperature saline at the rate of 2-5ml/hr to measure the bladder capacity (BC). Since the urethral catheter prevented any urine expulsion, we identified BC by large, sharp increases in bladder pressure, indicating an attempted voiding bladder contraction. The initial filling rate for BC measurements was 2ml/hr; but the filling rate of the second and third BC measurements was increased in some cases to obtain a bladder contraction after approximately 10 minutes of filling. We increased filling rate since older animals typically had higher BCs (mean ± standard error: 0.43ml±0.09, 0.72ml±0.12, and 0.78ml±0.08 for young, mature, and old animals, respectively), and a larger bladder volume was needed in older animals to evoke a bladder contraction.

One experiment block in our protocol consisted of two phases, an initial bladder filling phase and a second very slow bladder filling phase. In the first phase of the block, the

bladder was filled by a computer-controlled infusion pump (Ellite 11, Harvard Apparatus, Holliston, MA) to one-third of BC over 10 minutes, where BC was determined by the average volume triggering a bladder contraction during the three fill cycles performed before the block. In the second phase, the bladder was filled at 0.5BC/hr for 100-120 minutes (Figure. 2A). In the second phase of the block, a second computer-controlled infusion pump was used to infuse the urethra with room temperature saline at two-minute intervals (the pudendal nerve sensory response to flow can recover after two minutes (19)) for 10 seconds to test the ability of the flow to trigger the AR. Flow rates (denoted with colored vertical lines in Figure 2A) were selected pseudo-randomly by drawing randomly without replacement from the set [0.1, 0.2, 0.3, 0.4, 0.5, 1] ml/min, and when this set was finished, the process was repeated. This selection procedure minimized order effects and ensured that the effect of all flow rates on activation of the AR through a wide range of bladder volumes was tested. The volume at which the AR can evoke bladder contraction (VOLAR) in young rats is approximately 75% of the volume required for activation of MR (VOL_{MR}) (21); therefore, initially filling the bladder to one-third of BC prior to phase 2 saved time while still enabling us to observe the start of bladder contractions evoked by AR and MR as bladder volume increased. At the end of the block, the bladder volume was removed and measured.

To investigate the role of urethral afferents in evoking bladder contractions (AR), the urethra was anesthetized with lidocaine solution (2%) in two young and two old animals, and then the animals were prepared according to the protocol for our main experiment in Figure 2.

Before running the main experiment on two young and two old animals, the suppression of urethral afferent activity by lidocaine anesthesia of the urethra was tested in two additional animals (one young and one old animal). The sensory branch of the pudendal nerve was exposed through a posterior approach, and a bipolar nerve cuff electrode (Platinum–iridium insulated with the contact spacing of 2mm, World Precision Instruments) was used to record the neural activity before and after urethral anesthesia. A catheter was passed through the urethra and tied in place at the bladder neck, preventing backflow of the lidocaine into the bladder. Approximately 0.07ml lidocaine solution (2%) was infused into the urethra for 5-7 minutes. The urethra was washed (after 5-7 minutes) with saline and was infused with 11ml/min. Pudendal nerve activity was suppressed after lidocaine anesthesia of the urethra and continued for at least 100 minutes (which was the approximate length of our experiment). The terminal half-life of lidocaine hydrochloride 2% is 90-120 minutes (25).

2.4 Data Analysis

2.4.1 Bladder contraction detection and classification

Bladder contractions were identified using age group-specific bladder pressure threshold crossings. We computed each age-specific threshold as the average peak-to-peak amplitude of the small bladder contractions that occurred before the big bladder contraction (identified by a sharp rise in bladder pressure) during BC measurements. These small contractions are ostensibly the non-voiding contractions that typically occur prior to unobstructed voiding. The size of the pre-contractions, and therefore the thresholds we used, for young, mature, and old animals were $P_{young}=15$, $P_{mature}=15$, $P_{old}=12$. We used age-specific thresholds because older animals had weaker bladder contraction overall.

Bladder contractions were classified as either caused by the AR or the MR. The AR is triggered by urethral afferents, whereas the MR is triggered by bladder afferents. If the amplitude changes of bladder pressure 30 seconds following urethral infusion crossed the threshold ($P_{young}=15$, $P_{mature}=15$, $P_{old}=12$), the contraction was classified as AR contraction. We classified contractions occurring later than 30 seconds following infusion as MR contraction. Since pudendal afferent outflow subsides within 30 seconds of terminating urethral infusion (8), we attribute contractions occurring after this period to the MR because they are highly unlikely to be caused by the AR, which requires pudendal activation.

2.4.2 Identification of bladder volume threshold for voiding reflex occurrence

Urethral infusion activates pudendal afferents that mediate the AR; however, this reflex is only active in "voiding mode" when the bladder is full enough to generate substantial pelvic afferent activity (21). We refer to the critical bladder volume at which urethral infusion can trigger the AR as VOL_{AR}. We obtained VOL_{AR} from our data in the second phase of the experiment by determining the bladder volume at which the pressure amplitude change of the first urethra flow-evoked bladder contraction is greater than a pressure threshold: $P_{young}=15$, $P_{mature}=15$, $P_{old}=12$. We determined these thresholds by averaging the peak-to-peak amplitude of small bladder contractions (pre-contractions) before the big contraction in BC measurements. Similarly, the volume at which the first MR contraction occurs was named VOL_{MR}. VOL_{MR} represents the bladder volume at which the high level of bladder afferent activity directly leads to a bladder contraction via MR, regardless of the presence of flow in the urethra. Therefore, VOL_{AR} is expected to be less than VOL_{MR} in a normal LUT system (21).

2.4.3 Bladder volume computation

The ureters were not ligated, and their contribution to bladder filling was computed by subtracting the total volume in the bladder at the end of the block (which we removed and measured) from the amount infused through the bladder catheter. We could compute the volume contribution of ureters in this way because all volume remained in the bladder during each block since it was unable to flow around the urethral catheter. We assumed a constant flow rate (21) for ureters in the block and added the ureter contribution in bladder volume to the infused bladder volume. Therefore, we estimated the bladder volume throughout the block and used that information when we were computing VOL_{AR} and VOL_{MR}. We did not ligate the ureters to minimize the invasiveness of our experiment.

2.5 Results

We used independent control of bladder volume and urethra flow under quasiisovolumetric conditions to evaluate the activation of the augmenting (AR) and micturition (MR) reflexes in young, mature, and old animals. We filled the bladder continuously (to generate a broad range of bladder afferent activation throughout the experimental block) and infused the urethra (to activate urethral afferents) with different flow rates ([0.1, 0.2, 0.3, 0.4, 0.5, 1] ml/min) to compare the ability of each urethra flow rate to evoke a bladder contraction (AR contraction) across different age groups. We also evaluated differences in bladder volumes at which the AR and MR were activated (VOL_{AR} and VOL_{MR}) across ages.

2.5.1 Age-related sensitivity reduction of AR to urethral infusion

We computed the proportion of trials (lines in figure 2A) in which applied urethral flow evoked a bladder contraction at bladder fill volumes above the AR threshold (VOL_{AR}). Summary data in figure 3 show the proportion of evoked AR contractions averaged across blocks and separated by age group and flow rate. This metric represents the AR activation sensitivity to urethral infusion. We found that the same urethral flow rates evoked fewer AR contractions in older animals than younger ones, suggesting a reduction in urethral sensitivity. This analysis likely underestimates the effect of age-related reduction in AR activity because we excluded animals where we could not evoke any bladder contractions, and the percentage of excluded animals increased with age (7.8%, 14.2%, and 47.8%).

We found the main effects of both age and urethral flow rate (p<0.001) on the proportion of evoked AR contractions (bladder contractions evoked by AR), and no interaction effect between age and urethral flow rate (p=0.224). We used the generalized estimating equation (GEE, in SPSS) for statistical analysis, where age and urethra flow rate were considered independent variables, and the presence of a contraction for each trial (0 or 1) was considered the response which we modeled with the logit link function. Post hoc statistical tests (Bonferroni) between young and old groups showed that the same urethra flow rate evoked bladder contractions less often in old groups (p=0.003 for 0.1ml/min and p=0.041 for 1ml/min, and p<0.001 for all other urethra flow rates), indicating that the average proportion of bladder contractions evoked by all urethral flow rates decreases with age. The highest tested urethra flow rate (1ml/min) evoked the same proportion of bladder contractions in young and mature rats (p=0.086), but it evoked fewer contractions in old rats. The reduction in the number of evoked bladder contractions by the same urethra flow rate across age is consistent with the hypothesis that the sensitivity of AR to urethra flow decreased with age.

To confirm that the augmenting reflex (through activation of urethral afferents) was responsible for the bladder contractions presented in Figure 3, we repeated the experimental procedure on two young and two old animals after lidocaine anesthesia of the urethra. Figure 4 shows the electroneurogram (ENG) of the sensory branch of the pudendal nerve (gray line) and urethral pressure (dashed black line) in response to urethral infusion before (Figure. 4A) and after (Figure. 4B) lidocaine anesthesia of the urethra. The results showed that the ENG response to flow was abolished after urethral anesthesia.

Anesthetizing the urethra with lidocaine eliminated the AR but spared the MR, affirming that the AR effects we observe throughout the paper are driven by urethral afferents. To make this determination, after anesthetizing the urethra, we filled the bladder and infused the urethra with saline using the main experimental protocol (Figure 2). Urethral infusion never induced a bladder contraction, indicating AR was eliminated, but at large bladder volumes, spontaneous bladder contractions occurred that were uncorrelated with urethral infusion, indicating the MR (mediated by bladder afferents) remained intact. This is illustrated in Figure 5, showing bladder pressure from the last 30 minutes of blocks in two old and two young animals (see Data Analysis section for classification of AR and MR contractions). The bladder contractions do not immediately follow (are evoked by) urethral infusion (vertical lines), demonstrating the absence of AR. The presence of MR-evoked bladder contractions (bladder contractions that occur spontaneously at large bladder fill volumes and are not synchronized with the urethral flow) indicates that the lidocaine did not anesthetize the bladder since the MR is mediated by pelvic afferents (20). The result is compatible with previous studies, which indicated that the lidocaine anesthesia of the urethra could abolish the urethra to bladder reflex (67, 78).

2.5.2 Age-related dysregulation of AR and MR

As the lower urinary tract (LUT) system transitions from "continence mode" to "voiding mode" (29), the AR and MR become active to promote voiding; we examined when, as a function of bladder volume, these two reflexes become active and how the activation volumes are affected by age. The AR is gated by pelvic afferent discharge, such that only at high bladder fill volumes (\geq VOL_{AR}) the flow in the urethra will reflexively trigger a bladder contraction (21). In young rats, the bladder volume at which we could trigger the AR with urethral infusion was less than the volume at which the bladder underwent spontaneous distention-evoked MR contractions, that is VOL_{AR}
VOL_{MR}. However, the volume difference between VOL_{AR} and VOL_{MR} decreased with age and even reversed for the oldest group. Figure 6 shows segments from three experiments starting when we observed the first bladder contraction in the block. These examples illustrate that we could activate the AR at far lower volumes than we could activate the MR, while in old animals, the MR was triggered before we filled to VOL_{AR}.

To quantify the presence of delay in the activation of AR with respect to the activation of MR with age, we compared the proximity of VOL_{AR} to VOL_{MR} in different age groups according to equation (1):

$$Proximity = \frac{VOL_{MR} - VOL_{AR}}{VOL_{MR}} \times 100$$
(1)

The proximity was computed for each animal and averaged across the corresponding animal age group. Figure 7 shows the proximity values for all blocks separated by age groups. The value of the mean and standard error of proximity was 15.9 ± 4.1 , 9.4 ± 3.4 , and -8.7 ± 7.7 for young, mature, and old groups, respectively. The proximity of 0 indicates that VOL_{MR} is equal to VOL_{AR}, the proximity of 100 indicates that VOL_{AR} occurs even when

the bladder is completely empty, and negative proximity indicates VOL_{AR} does not occur until after VOL_{MR} . The two-sample t-test showed that the proximity of AR and MR in young animals was larger than in old animals (p=0.006).

To quantify the transition from continence to voiding mode and activation of voiding reflexes (AR and MR), we use the normalized bladder volume measure, computed as bladder volume/ VOL_{MR} x100. To aggregate bladder response data across animals (which all have different bladder sizes), we divided the filling cycle into bins representing 15% of each animal's normalized bladder volume (Figure 8).

Figure. 8 (top) shows the average pressure-time integral for each urethra flow rate (colored curves) at each bin (x-axis locations). This shows the work (force-time) done by the bladder in response to each urethra infusion trial, as a function of bladder fullness, to understand the transition from continence (no bladder contraction) to voiding mode. Increases in the pressure-time integral begin at lower normalized bladder volumes in younger animals, showing that the AR is activated before MR (bladder volumes $\leq 100\%$ VOL_{MR}) in young animals and engaged later (bladder volumes $\geq 100\%$ VOL_{MR}) in older animals.

Figure. 8 (bottom) shows the histogram of urethral flow trials within each normalized bladder volume bin, that is, the number of trials used to compute the average curves at each point in panel A. There are unequal numbers of trails across bins because the bladder filling rate (computed based on a series of pre-block fills) was a slightly different fraction of VOL_{MR} for each animal, so each 2-minute intertrial interval represented a slightly different amount of normalized bladder volume. There are no observations at low normalized bladder volumes because urethral infusion starts only after the bladder is filled to one-third capacity, and fewer observations at large volumes because the block duration was based

on a set number of trials. Lastly, the differences in the total number of urethral flow trials between age groups come from the number of blocks for each animal group; we ran two blocks in most of the young animals, but most of the mature and old animals were not stable enough under anesthesia for a second block (i.e., they died or had no bladder contractions in the second block).

2.5.3 Bladder contractions characteristics

We examined changes in peak contraction pressure and contraction duration across age groups during isovolumetric bladder contractions evoked during BC measurements that were performed prior to each block. Figure 9 shows the average peak-to-peak amplitude of bladder contractions and their duration in young, mature, and old animals. Old animals had longer bladder contractions than mature or young animals (t-test, p<0.001 and p=0.01). In addition, the peak-to-peak amplitude of bladder contractions in old animals was lower than mature (p=0.007) and young (p<0.001) groups.

2.5.4 Urethra flow-evoked external urethral sphincter response

We evaluated the feasibility of our experimental protocol in detecting voiding contractions in different age groups. In the current study, voiding is not possible because the urethra is occluded; however, the presence of external urethral sphincter (EUS) bursting is a strong indication that voiding would have occurred if the urethra had been unobstructed (19) because rats have bursting activity in the EUS exclusively during voiding (51, 78). We recorded an electromyogram of the EUS in a subset of 3 animals per age group. In Figure 10, the urethra was infused with 0.3ml/min and 1ml/min in three typical animals from different age groups (examples taken from trials during which the LUT system was in voiding mode). An example of bursting activity superimposed on the bladder pressure from
1 second before to 25 seconds following urethra infusion is shown. The results in Figure 10 indicated that the bursting activity is coincident with the rise in bladder pressure in all animals. Therefore, if we are interested in studying systems physiology, yet we separated bladder and urethra, we can identify voiding contractions even though no volume was expelled.

2.6 Discussion

We evaluated the role of sensory feedback from the bladder and the urethra independently on reflex bladder contractions using a split preparation method (21, 45, 46). The results showed that the same urethra flow rate evoked bladder contractions in older animals less often than in younger ones, and within all age groups, higher urethra flow rate trials evoked contractions more frequently. We also found that the AR required a fuller bladder to become active in old rats than in young rats, suggesting a functional decline in age-related activation of urinary tract reflexes associated with the "voiding mode." Old rats also exhibited longer and weaker bladder contractions than the young or mature groups. Taken together, the results are consistent with the hypothesis that the sensitivity of urinary tract reflexes declines with age, which may contribute to some age-related voiding dysfunction such as UAB.

There are a few possible explanations for less flow-evoked AR activation in old animals, including 1) degradation of the pudendal nerve, 2) degradation of the urethral musculature or, 3) the reduced number of urethral cells expressing serotonin, which we briefly discuss below. To determine which of these are fundamentally causally responsible for the reduction in AR activation we observed, we will require more detailed, targeted experiments and could be helpful in identifying new therapeutic targets.

25

When holding the urethra flow rate constant, the number of contractions evoked by AR decreases with age (Figure 3), suggesting that the sensitivity of AR to urethra infusion weakens with age. We found that there was not a difference in the number of bladder contractions evoked by all urethral flow rates greater than 0.1ml/min (which is likely an insufficient flow rate to recruit any urethra fibers (21) (p>0.05 among all flow rates except 0.1ml/min using Bonferroni). This suggests that 0.1 ml/min is a flow rate threshold for young rats, above which higher flows can activate the AR more frequently. As it was shown in Figure 3, this number was not 100% even in young animals for the highest urethra flow rate. Repeated urethral infusion in a block might limit the effectiveness of the stimulation on evoking the bladder contractions due to the urethra and/or bladder muscle fatigue in our experimental protocol. The proportion of contractions evoked by AR for all urethra flow rates decreased from young to mature groups of animals (except 1ml/min, p=0.086). The same urethra flow rates evoked bladder contractions less often in old animals than young animals, indicating that the sensitivity of AR to urethra flow rate decreased with age. Since efficient voiding is dependent upon the activity of urethral afferents responding to urine flow (85), age-related degradation of the pudendal nerve might play a role in decreased activation of AR and incomplete bladder emptying and other UAB symptoms observed in older patients.

Another potential explanation for the observed decrease in AR sensitivity could be agerelated degradation of the urethral musculature. If the urethra becomes more compliant, then the lumen will experience less pressure at the same flow rate. Since urethral pressure is the putative driver of urethral afferents (19, 53), this could also lead to fewer AR contractions at the same rate of urethral infusion. Another contributing factor for less AR activation can be the reduced number of urethral cells expressing serotonin (5-hydroxytryptamine [5-HT]) with age (15). It is believed that the urethra-to-bladder reflex is partially generated by cross-talk between urethral afferents and urethral cells expressing serotonin (50), and the blockade of serotonin receptors in nerve fibers innervating the urethra can block AR (16). Because the low voiding efficiency in aged rats could be enhanced by the application of 5-HT to the urethral lumen, the lower number of 5-HT-positive urethral cells may be responsible for decreased excitation of the urethral afferents and less AR in older animals (15). Additional studies are needed to distinguish between these potential contributing causes to the loss of AR sensitivity.

The late engagement of AR with respect to MR in older animals might also be related to UAB symptoms (straining to void, difficulties with stream). We computed the bladder volumes at which AR and MR were activated and compared their proximity across age groups. The AR was activated far earlier than MR in young animals. However, the activation of these two reflexes occurred almost at the same bladder volume in old animals. Woock et al. (94) showed that there is a strong correlation between bladder volume (which is highly correlated with pelvic afferent activity) and the magnitude of pudendal nerve stimulation-evoked bladder contractions, indicating that the superposition of pelvic and pudendal afferent activity evokes the augmenting reflex bladder contraction. Therefore, a possible reason for the delay in the activation of the AR in older animals might be the reduction in the sensitivity loss, the activation of AR may require so much pelvic afferent outflow that the AR occurs only after the MR becomes active (i.e., $VOL_{AR} \ge VOL_{MR}$).

Pelvic afferent outflow (bladder filling) is the putative driver by which the lower urinary tract switches between continence and voiding modes (21), a process that may be disrupted as we age and lead to UAB symptoms. Older animals' bladders needed to be filled to a larger percentage of their maximum before urethral flow could engage the augmenting reflex (Figure 6 and Figure 7), a reflex necessary for efficient bladder emptying (66, 68, 78). This suggests the switch to voiding mode happens early in the filling cycle (i.e., $VOL_{AR} < VOL_{MR}$) for young animals, allowing the augmenting reflex to aid in micturition during voiding events. However, older animals require substantially fuller bladders before the augmenting reflex engages (perhaps due to compromised peripheral sensation), effectively delaying the switch to voiding mode. If this delay also happens in humans, it will result in people attempting to void without the benefit of the augmenting reflex because the urinary tract has not fully switched to voiding mode. Voiding without the augmenting reflex leads to UAB symptoms like straining to void, difficulty initiating voiding, and weak urine streams (30, 68, 89). Together, this suggests that the functional weakening of urethra-mediated voiding reflexes during the filling cycle in old rats contributes to age-related UAB symptoms.

The International Continence Society has defined underactive bladder as low amplitude and/or inadequate duration to empty the bladder completely (1). We examined peak-topeak amplitude and duration of bladder contractions in BC measurements. Peak-to-peak amplitude increased, and the duration of bladder contractions decreased with age. Purinergic and cholinergic components of the bladder are involved in the magnitude and maintenance (duration) of bladder contractions (81). There was a significant positive correlation between age and the purinergic component of human bladder contraction and a significant negative correlation between age and the cholinergic component of human bladder contraction (99, 100). Therefore, the impairment of purinergic and cholinergic components of the bladder might alter the bladder contractile properties and leads to incomplete bladder emptying with increasing age.

We also measured the vaginal impedance (a biomarker for the estrous cycle (44)) to control for the potential confounds of hormone cycles on amplitude and duration of bladder contractions. We computed the correlation between vaginal impedance values and bladder contraction amplitude and duration. Neither bladder contraction amplitude (R=-0.1, p=0.5) nor bladder contraction duration (R=0.26, p=0.12) was correlated with vaginal impedance, indicating the reflex effects we observe for each animal are unlikely to depend on which phase of the estrous cycle they are in during the study. Our results are consistent with previous studies, which showed bladder contraction pressure does not differ among different stages of the estrous cycle (64).

The development of therapies for UAB requires an understanding of its pathophysiological mechanism (10). For example, Gonzalez and Grill (35) showed that the amplitude of bursting activity of the EUS (which is critical for efficient bladder emptying in rats) was reduced in obesity-prone rats. Therefore, electrical stimulation of pudendal efferent improved voiding efficiency in their study. Since our results indicated that the sensitivity of AR to urethra infusion decreased with age and voiding reflex dysregulation occurred with age, stimulation of the pudendal nerve may be a viable strategy to treat age-related UAB. Therefore, this study can help to frame our understanding of geriatric UAB and develop therapies to improve the voiding reflexes.

Figures



Figure 1. The activation of LUT reflexes in the nervous system. In continence mode, the guarding reflex inhibits the bladder and contracts the urethra to keep the LUT in continence mode. A sufficient level of pelvic afferent activity switches the LUT to the voiding mode. In the voiding mode, fluid entering the urethra activates the pudendal afferent leading to a bladder contraction via the augmenting reflex (AR). High level of pelvic afferent activity triggers the micturition reflex (MR) from pelvic afferents to pelvic efferents, which also evokes a bladder contraction.



Figure 2. The bladder pressure was recorded (red trace) while the bladder was filled continuously. At two-minute intervals, the urethra was infused at a pseudo-randomly selected flow rate (vertical lines). This block was recorded from a mature rat. In this example, infusing the urethra, at any rate, did not evoke bladder contractions when the bladder volume was less than 0.59 ml, likely because the lack of sufficient pelvic afferent activity kept the LUT system in continence mode; however, above 0.59ml, the voiding reflexes were activated. B: Experimental setup, which shows the double-lumen catheter in the bladder dome and proximal urethra.



Figure 3. AR activation sensitivity to urethral flow shows fewer evoked bladder contractions in older animals than in younger ones at equal flow rates. The proportion of trials in which applied urethral flow evoked a bladder contraction for each flow rate was computed for each block, averaged across blocks, and separated by age group. Data are displayed as the mean proportion with standard error bars. Horizontal jitter is used to allow clear visualization of mean values. There are main effects of both age and urethral flow rate (p<0.001) on the proportion of evoked AR contractions (bladder contractions evoked by AR), and no interaction effect between age and urethral flow rate (p=0.224). Horizontal jitter is used to allow clear visualization of mean values.



Figure 4. The pudendal nerve activity (gray line) and urethral pressure (dashed black line) before (A) and after (B) lidocaine anesthesia of the urethra to 11ml/min urethral flow (black arrow).



Figure 5. The bladder pressure (gray) at the last 30 minutes of the block in two old and two young animals after lidocaine anesthesia of the urethra in response to the urethral infusion (vertical black lines). The results show that the MR was spared, but the AR was abolished.



Figure 6. Examples from three experiments beginning at the first bladder contraction in the block for a young (top), mature (middle), and old (bottom) animal. The panels illustrate that the augmenting reflex responds to flow early in the filling cycle for young animals, but the augmenting reflex does not engage until very late in the filling cycle for old animals, not typically occurring until after the bladder is full enough to trigger the distention-evoked micturition reflex contraction. Vertical lines showed when the urethra was infused, and the overlaid symbols indicate augmenting (gray arrow) or micturition (black diamond) reflex contractions. Horizontal and vertical scales are the same across all panels.



Figure 7. Delay in the activation of AR with respect to the activation of MR for each block, separated by age groups. The proximity (equation 1) was computed for each block and averaged across the corresponding animal age group. A positive proximity value demonstrates that we could activate the AR at far lower volumes than we could activate the MR, while in old animals, the negative proximity value shows that the MR was triggered before we filled to VOL_{AR}. The two-sample t-test showed that the proximity of AR and MR in young animals was larger than in old animals (p=0.006).



Figure 8. As rats age, the AR is active later in the bladder filling cycle. Top) Average pressure-time integral across all blocks for all animals as a function of bladder volume (percent of VOL_{MR}), separated by urethral flow rate. Bottom) Histogram of the number of trials (urethral infusion) in each bin colored by each trial's flow rate.



Figure 9. The peak-to-peak amplitude of bladder contractions decreases with age, and the duration of bladder contractions increases with age. Each point is one bladder contraction, and the error bars show the mean \pm standard error. Old animals had longer bladder contractions than mature or young animals (t-test, p<0.001 and p=0.01). In addition, the peak-to-peak amplitude of bladder contractions in old animals was lower than mature (p=0.007) and young (p<0.001) groups.



Figure 10. The bursting activity of the EUS superimposed on the bladder pressure for three animals from different age groups. The presence of bursting activity in all animal groups for two different urethra flow rates (0.3ml/min and 1ml/min) showed that we could identify the voiding contractions, even though the bladder cannot void around the inner lumen urethral catheter.

CHAPTER 3

AGE IS ASSOCIATED WITH REDUCED URETHRAL PRESSURE AND SENSITIVITY IN RAT

3.1 Introduction age-related underactive bladder

In our previous chapter, we demonstrated that the AR's (urethral afferents to bladder efferent reflex) sensitivity decreases with age; that is, older animals require higher urethral flow rates to elicit the AR than younger animals (32). The study in this chapter examines the age-related loss of urethral signaling capability by measuring the afferent activity directly.

Recent studies about the effect of aging on the LUT highlighted a lack of afferent signaling or integrative control of sensory information in the spinal and supraspinal centers, resulting in weak efferent signaling (27, 34, 61, 91) or compromised urethral sensation (47). There are two likely sources from which a reduction in urethral sensory outflow might arise. First, hypotrophy of the pudendal nerve that carries urethral afferents could directly reduce pudendal afferent activity by damaging fibers that convey urethral sensation. Second, an increase in compliance of the urethra could reduce the afferent signaling during a void. As the bladder pushes fluid into the urethra, the pressure buildup increases urethral wall stress that drives afferent activation (52); therefore, the same amount of fluid entering a more compliant urethra generates less pressure and wall stress, and in turn, less afferent signaling. Evidence in the literature is consistent with age-related changes in the LUT. Degradation of urethral afferents and LUT denervation is present in older populations (9, 17, 27, 34, 59, 73, 96), which might cause bladder dysfunction symptoms if it compromises the LUT reflexes (68). Structural and biochemical changes of nerve fibers and the reduction of regenerative and reinnervating capabilities that come with age impair the central and peripheral nervous system (91), which can affect the LUT reflexes directly. Oshiro et al. showed external urethral sphincter atrophy in aged rats (62), and urethral sphincter muscle fibers appear to be replaced by connective tissue increases throughout aging (96); both of which could lead to a more compliant urethra. Histological studies also showed a decline in the number and density of striated urethral sphincter nerve and muscle fibers with age (69).

In this study, we hypothesized that afferent activity in the pudendal nerve, which carries urethral sensation, decreases with age, and explored how a combination of urethral afferent degradation and an increase in urethral compliance might contribute to a reduction in urethral sensory outflow. We recorded pudendal afferents (electroneurogram (ENG)) in young and old animals while we infused the urethra with fluid. We found that equivalent flow rates evoked less urethral afferent activity in the older rats. To understand what factors were driving the afferent reduction, we examined the pudendal nerves histologically and measured the pressures that developed in the urethra during infusion. We found evidence that axonal myelination decreased in old rats and lower pressures developed in the urethra of older rats during infusion.

3.2 Methods

3.2.1 Ethical approval

All animal care and experimental procedures were reviewed and approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee at Florida International University. We used two groups of urethane-anesthetized female Sprague–Dawley rats (young (3-7mo), old (18-24mo), n=12 each group) to quantify the effect of aging on urethral afferent signaling. The age of old rats matches the human lifespan in a reasonable way (77), and our previous study showed that the AR becomes weak in rats at this age (32). All experiments were nonsurvival. Rats were bought from Charles River Laboratories, and rats in the "old" group were kept for 6-12 months under a low cholesterol diet (to keep them healthy) in an animal care facility under a 12:12-h light-dark cycle until they reached the appropriate age for the study. Animals were anesthetized initially with isoflurane gas followed by injection of 1.2 g/kg urethane (dissolved as 0.2 mg/mL in 0.9% saline solution) subcutaneously using a 27gauge needle. The foot pinch reflex of animals was tested one hour after injection, and supplemental doses (0.1 g/kg, every 30 min) were injected until the foot withdrawal reflex abated. Urethane was used because it provides a stable depth of anesthesia and spares LUT reflexes (31). The body temperature and heart rate (determined via ECG) of animals were measured to monitor the vital signs and keep the depth of anesthesia. Animals were euthanized by an intraperitoneal injection of pentobarbital sodium after the experiment.

3.2.2 Experimental Protocol

A catheter (PE90) was passed through the intravesical space into the urethra from the bladder dome to allow infusion of fluid through the urethra. The abdomen was sutured closed, but we left the bladder incision open so that the bladder remained empty during the experiment. A Millar pressure catheter (Millar, SPR-1000, Houston, TX) was passed through the urethral catheter and into the urethra just proximal to the trigon to measure the pressure in the proximal urethra. This low-profile, solid-state transducer lets us record pressure while minimally interfering with the flow. A computer-controlled infusion pump (Ellite 11, Harvard Apparatus, Holliston, MA) was connected to the catheter and used to pass a solution of room temperature saline through the urethra at controlled flow rates. The pudendal nerve was exposed using the posterior approach, and the sensory branch was isolated from the compound nerve and connective tissue. The sensory branch is almost completely of sensory fibers and can be isolated through careful dissection (19, 82). A bipolar nerve cuff electrode (Platinum-iridium insulated with the contact spacing of 2mm, World Precision Instruments) was placed on the sensory branch of the pudendal nerve to record the electroneurogram (ENG). At 2-minute intervals (the pudendal nerve sensory response to flow can recover after two minutes (19)), the urethra was infused at pseudorandomly selected flow rates ([0.1, 0.2, 0.3, 0.4, 0.5, 1, 2, 3, 5, 11] ml/min) for 15 seconds (this time is sufficient for the flow rates to develop required pressure in the urethra). In a physiological condition, the average flow rate is calculated as average volume voided over the average duration of the voiding period, which is shown to be 6.4 ml/min) (19). However, if we assume that urethral flow is only permitted during the silent phase (not the bursting phase), the average flow rate will be 10.4 ml/min (19). If instead we assume that ure thral flow is slowed during sphincter contractions, rather than stopped, then a typical average flow rate during voiding lies between 6.4 and 10.4 ml/min. We expect old rats to have lower flow rates on average during voiding and may also experience slow leaking from stress incontinence; therefore, the flow rates we used were chosen to represent a range from barely detectable to the maximum physiologically relevant flow the urethra might experience. Electrical activity of the pudendal sensory nerve was sampled at 20 kHz (PowerLab 8/35, ADInstruments), amplified at a gain of 104, and bandpass filtered from 100 to 10000 Hz (SR560, Stanford Research Systems). Pressure signals were amplified at a gain of 10, sampled at 100 Hz, and recorded unfiltered. The experimental setup is displayed in Figure. 11

The sensory branch of the pudendal nerve along with the cuff electrode was completely removed after the experiment, fixed in 10% buffered formalin, and embedded in paraffin. The middle segment of the nerve tissue was cut into slices with 2 μ m thickness. We used H&E staining (42), the light microscope (Leica DM 4500b), and ImageJ to measure axonal density and myelin thickness of the afferents in the sensory branch of the pudendal nerve.

3.3 Data Analysis

Before data analysis, ENG signals were rectified and filtered (100–3000 Hz). To better visualize the initial transient neural response to infusion, a moving average filter with a 200 ms sliding window was applied. We computed the initial transient peak in response to the urethral infusion (19) to quantify trends of the pudendal afferent activity and urethral pressure across flow rates and trials. To capture the transient response of urethral pressure to flow, we subtracted the root mean square (RMS) of baseline urethral pressure before urethral opening (caused by flow) from the RMS activity after urethral opening in a 2-second window (Figure. 12). The urethral opening was defined as the time after flow onset when the urethral pressure first exceeded the 75% of RMS value of the pressure across the

entire duration of the flow. We subtracted the root mean square (RMS) of baseline neural activity before urethral opening (caused by flow) from the RMS activity after urethral opening in a 2-second window to quantify change from baseline. We did not start the RMS calculation immediately (or at a fixed latency) after turning on the infusion pump because pudendal afferents are not activated until the urethra opens, and depending on the flow rate, different amounts of time were necessary to overcome urethral opening pressure. (Figure. 13).

3.4 Results

Pudendal sensory nerve activity was recorded in response to different urethral flow rates. Figure. 13 shows the rectified and moving averaged filtered ENG response to flow in a young and old animal. These data show a large transient initial response to the onset of flow followed by a persistent, steady-state activity. The ENG decayed back to baseline once the flow was terminated. The onset of neural activity of urethral afferents with respect to the start of the urethral infusion occurred earlier for high flow rates because higher flow rates require less time to develop enough catheter pressure to overcome the urethral opening resistance (36). All flow rates except 0.1ml/min could activate the pudendal afferents of young animals, probably because this flow rate is not strong enough to stretch the urethral wall sufficiently to activate the urethral afferents.

To capture the transient ENG response to flow onset, we subtracted the integrated RMS of baseline activity before urethral opening by flow from the RMS activity after urethral opening in a 2-second window (see Figure. 12). The same urethral flow rates evoked less

nerve activity in older animals [(F(1,33)=10.5, p=0.003), mixed ANOVA], which shows there is a deficit in neural response to flow in older animals.

Flow in the urethra increases the urethral pressure and distension, which leads to activation of pudendal afferents (19, 53). However, the pressure generated in the urethra caused by a fixed flow rate may be different across animals and across ages, which may affect the evoked neural activity in pudendal afferents. Urethral muscle diameter and elasticity are key factors that determine what pressure will be generated in the urethra in response to fluid infusion. Therefore, maintaining constant infusion rates across animals and age groups does not guarantee we generate equal urethral pressures. Previous studies on mice (55), rats (73), and adult women (12) showed that the urethral diameter does not change with age, indicating that pressure differences caused by equivalent flow rates are likely due to differences in compliance.

The precise transduction mechanism of mechanical stimuli into urethral afferent activity is not fully known, and flow, volume, pressure, distention, and wall stress are all plausible candidates (20). However, the afferent response to a given pressure is identical whether the urethral fluid causing that pressure is flowing or static (53), suggesting that pressure is the primary sensed stimuli or that flow sensors represent a negligible portion of the response. Danziger et al. also showed that pressure (and its derivative) was sufficient to capture urethral afferent responses across a wide range of flow rates and flow profiles (19). Tension in the urethra wall will also be highly correlated with pressure in many physiological conditions. Therefore, even if pressure itself is not the primary physical quantity being sensed by urethral afferents, it is highly likely to be a good approximation. We computed the urethral pressure evoked by each applied flow rate to understand how differences in intraurethral pressures between ages could drive observed differences in evoked ENG. Figure. 15 shows that the same flow rates evoked less pressure in the urethra in older animals than younger ones (F(1,33)=8.7, p=0.006, mixed ANOVA). The change in urethral pressure was computed by subtracting the integrated RMS of baseline pressure before urethral opening by flow from the RMS activity after urethral opening in a 2-second window (see data analysis). The likely explanation for this difference in pressure between age groups is that the urethral lumen in old rats is more compliant and thus experiences less pressure at equivalent flow rates.

The lower pressures in older animals may partially explain their lower flow evoked ENG response (Figure. 14). To understand the relationship between urethral pressure and evoked afferent activity, we averaged the resulting urethral pressures and averaged the evoked afferent activity for each applied flowrate across each age group. This lets us visualize the relationship between pressure (dependent variable) and evoked ENG (dependent variable) across each flow rate (color–independent variable) for both young (circles) and old (diamonds) rats. Figure. 16 shows that evoked ENG in old rats is strictly less than for young rats at equivalent urethral pressures, which controls for the effects of differential tissue-related responses to a fluid infusion between old and young rats. For example, the pressure evoked by the 5ml/min infusion in young animals is approximately equal to the pressure evoked by 11ml/min in old animals (approximately 19 mmHg in both cases); however, the ENG response to 11ml/min in the old group is less than the ENG response to 5ml/min in the young group. Therefore, an increase in passive urethral compliance with age, which

results in less intraurethral pressure compared to young rats, is not sufficient to explain the entirety of the reduction in urethral afferent signaling we observe in old rats.

To examine the nerve-related factors that could lead to reduced afferent signaling, we measured the axonal density (3 young and 3 old animals) and myelin thickness (6 young and 6 old animals) of the sensory branch of the pudendal nerve after the experiments. The myelin thickness (young group: 1.53 ± 0.03 um; elderly group: 1.03 ± 0.01 um; p<0.001, t-test) of the elderly group was smaller than those of the young group. The axonal density of the young and old groups was 0.013 ± 0.004 and 0.01 ± 0.006 fiber/µm2, respectively. Figure. 17 shows the boxplot of pooled myelin thickness from all samples in young and old animals. Figure. 18 (A, B) shows the examples of axons in young (A) and old (B) animals with 20x magnification and Figure. 18 (C, D) shows the examples of axons in young (C) and old (D) animals with 100x magnification.

3.5 Discussion

We measured age-related loss of urethral signaling capability by measuring the afferent activity directly. We found that urethral afferents (measured by electroneurogram) are less responsive to fluid flow in old rats and that there is both a mechanical component that contributes to this (a more compliant urethra) and a non-mechanical component (presumably neuropathy). Overall, the same urethral flow rates evoked less activity in pudendal afferents of older animals. We also found that pressure in the urethra decreases with age, meaning the urethra in older rats is more compliant, and their lumen experiences less pressure than for the same flow rate in the urethra of young rats. We showed that even after controlling for age-related pressure differences, less activity is generated in pudendal afferents of old animals at equivalent pressures, suggesting both mechanical and nonmechanical causes. Histological results of the pudendal nerve showed significant myelin thickness reduction with age, suggesting the non-mechanical factors may have a neuropathic origin. Our results suggest that this age-related reduction in urethral afferent outflow is mediated by a mechanical component, presumably a more compliant urethra, and a non-mechanical component, presumably neuropathy.

3.5.1 Two Contributing Factors to Age-Related Loss of Urethral Sensitivity: Mechanical and Non-Mechanical

There are several possible explanations for less flow-evoked pudendal afferents activation in old animals. The horizontal axis in Figure. 16 indicates that with the same urethral flow rate, less pressure is generated in the urethra of older animals, suggesting that mechanical changes in the urethral tissue attenuate the physical stimulus that urethral afferents respond to. Interestingly, even at the same urethral pressure, less neural activity is generated in the pudendal afferents of old animals. Therefore, an increase in passive urethral compliance with age, which results in less intraurethral pressure compared to young rats, is not sufficient to explain the entirety of the reduction in urethral afferent signaling we observe in old rats.

3.5.2 Computing the Contributions of Mechanical and Non-Mechanical Factors to Total Sensory Loss

Here we quantify the contributions to pudendal afferent loss of sensitivity from mechanical factors, which change the pressure the urethra experiences in response to flow, and non-mechanical factors, which are putatively intrinsic to the nerve itself. We find that old rats

lose over 50% of their urethral sensitivity overall when compared to young rats and that 20% of that loss is due to mechanical factors of the urethra, with the remaining 80% from intrinsic neural factors (Figure. 19D). The remainder of this subsection describes the procedure to obtain this result.

The total loss of urethral sensitivity is the difference in evoked afferent responses between old and young rats to the same flow rate (quantified in Figure. 14). To visualize how this total decomposes into the two factors, in Figure. 19A, we create a schematic representation of the afferent response to flow in the urethra as a function of pressure (actual data are in Figure. 16). Formally,

$$L_t(Q) = L_n(Q) + L_m(Q) = N_v(Q) - N_o(Q)$$
(1)

where $L_t(Q)$ is the total loss as a function of flow rate, Q, and $N_y(Q)$ and $N_o(Q)$ are the neural responses of young and old rats as a function of flow rate. The first equality in equation (1) states that the total sensory loss is the sum of the sensory loss due to nonmechanical (or neural) factors, $L_n(Q)$, and mechanical factors, $L_m(Q)$, which is shown in Figure. 19A. The second equality is visualized as the gray patch in Figure. 19B, which is the difference between nerve responses of young and old animals as a function of flow rate.

At a given urethral pressure, the difference between the neural afferents of young and old rats must be the non-mechanical contribution to sensory loss since the mechanical contribution only has its effect through changes in the pressures the urethra experiences. This is shown as the difference between the young and old curves in Figure. 19A. We can write this as

$$L_n = N_y(\boldsymbol{Q}_k) - N_o(\boldsymbol{Q}'_k) \tag{2}$$

where $N_y(Q_k)$ is the neural response of the young rats to flow rate Q_k , and $N_o(Q'_k)$ is the neural response of the old rats at flow rate Q'_k , which is the flow rate required to generate urethral pressure in old rats that Q_k generates for young rats. The remaining mechanical contribution to sensory loss is then the difference between the neural response of old rats at the given pressure minus the sensory response of the old rats to the flow rate that produced the given pressure in young rats (shown geometrically in Figure. 19A):

$$L_m = N_o(Q'_k) - N_o(Q_k) \tag{3}$$

To compute L_n and L_m we need expressions for $N_y(Q)$, $N_o(Q)$, and Q'_k . $N_y(Q)$ and $N_o(Q)$ can be computed by direct curve fits to data in Figure. 14 using the form $N(Q) = c_1 + c_2 log_{10}(Q)$, yielding the fits shown in Figure. 19B. The constants c_1 and c_2 were fit separately for each age group ($c_{1y} = 2.00$, $c_{2y} = 1.79$, $c_{1o} = 0.94$, $c_{2o} =$ **1.05**), and yield R²=0.98 and R²=0.97 for young and old groups. To compute Q'_k (the flow rate in old rats that causes the same pressure as the flow rate Q_k causes in young rats) we require an expression relating the pressure to flow for young rats, $P_y(Q)$, and old rats $P_o(Q)$. We can obtain these expressions through direct curve fits to data in Figure. 15 using the form $P(Q) = b_1 Q^{b_2}$, yielding the fits shown in Figure. 19C. The constants b_1 and b_2 were fit separately for each age group ($b_{1y} = 7.90$, $c_{2y} = 0.54$, $c_{1o} = 6.08$, $c_{2o} =$ **0.49**), and yield R²=0.99 and R²=0.99 for young and old groups. To compute Q' in general,

we set $P_y(Q) = P_o(Q')$, which yields $Q' = \left(\frac{b_{1y}}{b_{1o}}Q^{b_{2y}}\right)^{1/b_{2o}}$. Plugging Q' into equation (3)

and using the expressions for $N_y(Q)$ and $N_o(Q)$, we can decompose the loss into mechanical and non-mechanical factors. The mechanical loss as a function of flow rate is then

$$L_m(Q) = c_{2o} \log_{10} \left(\left(\frac{b_{1y}}{b_{1o}} \right)^{1/b_{2o}} Q^{\frac{b_{2y}}{b_{2o}} - 1} \right)$$
(4)

The red trace in Figure. 19D shows the percentage of the total loss, $L_t(Q)$, due to mechanical factors, $L_m(Q)$, expressed as $L_m(Q)/L_t(Q) \cdot 100$. For the larger flow rates that occur during voiding, mechanical factors account for only 20% of the total sensory loss, with the balance coming from non-mechanical factors. Since the mechanical loss is proportional to log of $Q^{\frac{b_{2y}}{b_{2o}}-1}$, and the exponent is less than 1, we expect a very weak dependence of $L_m(Q)$ on flow rate for flows above 1 ml/min. Mechanical factors may represent a larger share of the impact at low flow rates, as voiding is beginning, although at low flow rates the total sensory loss is much lower overall. The black trace in Figure. 19D shows the overall percentage of neural activation that old rats lose, $N_o(Q)/N_y(Q) \cdot 100$. This indicates that most of the functional loss comes at high flow rates. Taken together, most of the age-related urethral sensitivity loss occurs at higher flow rates, and at higher flow rates over 80% of the loss originates with non-mechanical factors, which suggests that urethral afferents may be a promising therapeutic target for restoring urethral sensation and mitigating age-related UAB symptoms.

3.5.3 Drivers of Urethral Sensation Loss

One potential explanation for the observed decrease in pudendal afferents activity could be age-related degradation of the urethral musculature (i.e., a mechanical factor). The increase in the urethral resistance generally makes the urine stream difficult in the urethra, which does not let the flow develop required urethral pressure to activate pudendal afferents. On the other hand, if the urethra is more compliant (very loose), the flow cannot distend the urethra to develop enough pressure and activate pudendal afferents. Since urethral pressure is the putative driver of urethral afferents rather than flow (53), this might also decrease the activity of pudendal afferents and lead to fewer AR contractions. Our results showed that the same flow rates evoked less pressure in the urethra in older animals. The increased EUS connective tissue, reduced number of EUS fibers (96), and EUS muscle atrophy (62) with age might explain the reduced pressure generated by urethral infusion in older animals.

Functional deficits in flow-evoked pudendal nerve activity may be the consequence of structural and biochemical changes that result in a gradual loss of neurons and myelin (i.e., a neural factor). Therefore, age-related degradation of the pudendal nerve might be another contributing factor for less flow evoked ENG response in older animals. The myelin thickness of the old group was significantly smaller than those of the young group. Previous research has revealed a significant reduction in mRNA and protein levels for myelin sheath components in the sciatic nerves of older rats (59). A decrease in myelin of the myelinated fibers in the aged subjects is the main morphologic change responsible for the nerve conduction changes, and this delay might change the normal timing of the neural circuit in the spinal cord and disrupt AR activation (32).

Reduced number of urethral cells expressing serotonin (5-hydroxytryptamine [5-HT]) with age can be another contributing factor for less pudendal afferents activity in older animals (15). It is believed that cross-talk between urethral afferents and urethral cells expressing serotonin involved in transmission of sensory information from the urethra to the central nervous system (50), and the blockade of serotonin receptors in nerve fibers innervating the urethra can block AR (16). Previous research showed that the application of 5-HT to the urethral lumen could increase the voiding efficiency. Therefore, the lower number of 5-HT-positive urethral cells may be responsible for decreased excitation of the urethral afferents (15).

The methodology of our study has a number of limitations that we note here to help clarify the interpretation of our results. 1) We tied a catheter around the bladder neck to infuse the urethra. This might prevent mechanical distension of the proximal urethra and influence flow-evoked pressure (or tension) and afferent activity results. 2) It is possible that urethane anesthesia dosed according to body weight (the gold-standard approach) does not result in equal responses in young and old animals. If urethane suppresses afferent activity or ure thral muscle tone to a different extent in old rats than young rats, the anesthesia itself could contribute to the differences we observe between ages. 3) Our study isolated and quantified the fundamental response of urethral afferents and urethral pressure to applied ure thra flow. To perform this characterization, we needed to remove many potentially confounding aspects present in natural voiding, which included enforcing a constant flow rate throughout urethral infusion and maintaining an empty bladder, neither of which is typical of physiological voiding. Therefore, our results specifically highlight changes in fundamental afferent activity related to aging and cannot be used to directly infer functional age-related differences. This work only discovered that age-related differences in afferent responses and pressures exist, but their explanatory role in functional age-related LUT decline remains to be determined. 4) We measured urethral pressure rather than tension, which is very likely the primary sensed urethral stimuli. If these two quantities diverge substantially during infusion, our estimate of the mechanical effects on age-related afferent loss may also change. We expect any effects of using pressure as a surrogate for tension to be small, since these variables will be highly correlated with each other in many physiological conditions, and multiple models have shown success predicting urethral afferent discharge from pressure information.

3.5.4 Future Directions

Underactive bladder (UAB) is very common in elderly, and its etiology is under studied (14); here we propose a mechanism that could explain age-related UAB symptoms that is consistent with the literature and the results of this work. In prior work we showed that there is a deficit in the urethra-to-bladder (augmenting) reflex that worsens with age (32). Disrupting the augmenting reflex by administration of intraurethral lidocaine (32, 45, 78), or transecting the pudendal nerve (67) significantly decreases voiding efficiency, which is a hallmark UAB symptom. Here we report that the urethral afferents, the fibers directly responsible for activating the augmenting reflex, weaken with age. The afferent weakening we observed is consistent with the reported decline in urethral sensation and neuropathy in age-related UAB (26, 63). We hypothesize that age-related neuropathy and increases in ure thral compliance lead to less ure thral sensory outflow that, in turn, leads to a less sensitive and robust augmenting reflex. Since the augmenting reflex is necessary for efficient voiding, a neuropathic weakening of this reflex could contribute to the poor voiding efficiency we observe in age-related UAB patients. To fully verify this hypothesis, further work is needed to demonstrate 1) that the reduction in urethral afferent outflow is causally responsible for the weakened augmenting reflex in old rats, and 2) that a weakened

augmenting reflex materially contributes to the loss of voiding efficiency or hesitancy observed in UAB.

Figures



Figure 11. Experimental setup for nerve recording (19). The catheter is inserted to the urethra through bladder dome and is tied with suture around bladder neck. The urethra is infused with selected flow rates and the neural activity of the pudendal afferents is recorded.



Figure 12. The initial transient response of pudendal nerve activity (ENG) and urethral pressure to flow. The urethral opening was defined as the time after flow onset (infusion) when the urethral pressure first exceeded the 75% of RMS value of the pressure across the entire duration of the flow.



Figure 13. The transient response of pudendal afferent activity to a subset of the different applied flow rates in a typical young and old animal. Higher flow rates initiate more neural activity in both groups of animals. 0.5ml/min urethral infusion evoked detectable levels of ENG in the young animal but could not generate activity in the old animal.



Figure 14. The initial transient peak response of pudendal nerve activity to urethral infusion in young (black) and old (grey) animals. The change in RMS of ENG response to all flow rates in a 2-second window was computed and averaged across the corresponding age group. The same flow rates evoked less pudendal afferent activity in older animals. Each animal's average ENG response to multiple applications of each flow rate was computed, then that number was averaged across all animals in each age group for each flow rate. Bars are standard error across animals (n=12 per age group), plotted on a log-scale horizontal axis.



Figure 15. The flow-evoked urethral pressure response in young and old animals. The change in RMS of urethral pressure was computed in a 2-second window for each flow rate and averaged across the corresponding animal age groups. The same urethral flow rates created less urethral pressure in older animals. The change in urethral pressure is displayed as the mean with standard error, plotted on a log-scale horizontal axis.



Figure 16. Old rats (diamonds) have smaller urethral sensory responses than young rats (circles) to equivalent pressures generated by experimentally applied flow rates (color). Larger flow rates were required in old rats to generate the same urethral pressures (see also Figure. 15), but even when comparing old and young rats at equivalent pressures (the same extent along the abscissa), old rats showed a less sensory response. Ordinate data were pooled according to Figure. 14 and abscissa data were pooled according to Figure. 15, error bars for both are standard errors.



Figure 17. Axonal myelin in the sensory branch of the pudendal nerve is thicker in younger animals.



Figure 18. The examples of axons in the sensory branch of the pudendal nerve in young and old animals. A (young), B (old) are with 20x magnification and C (young), D (old) are with 100x magnification. The black bar in B, shows 50um in A and B; and the black bar in C, shows 10 um in C, D.


Figure 19. Decomposition of age-related urethral sensory loss into its mechanical and nonmechanical factors. A) Schematic (not actual data) illustrating how the total sensory loss in old rats breaks down into its non-mechanical and mechanical components. The first equality in equation (1) expresses this depiction of the total loss. B) Curve fits to data show in Figure. 14 for neural response as a function of applied flow rate. The gray patch depicts the total sensory loss and is expressed in the second equality in equation (1). C) Curve fits from data in Figure. 15 expressing urethral pressure as a function of applied flow rate. D) The ratio of evoked neural activity in old to young rats as a function of applied flow rate (black). The percentage of sensory loss in old rats due to mechanical factors as a function of applied flow rate.

CHAPTER 4

POTENTIAL OF PERCUTANEOUS ELECTRICAL STIMULATION OF PUDENDAL NERVE IN MITIGATING UNDRACTIVE BLADDER SYMPTOMS IN AGED RATS

4.1 Introduction to UAB and treatment options

The sensitivity of the AR decreases with age (chapter 2); that is, higher urethral flow rates are required in older animals compared to younger ones to evoke the AR (32). In chapter 3, we found evidence that axonal myelination decreased in old rats and that lower pressures developed in the urethra in older animals during infusion, possible explanations for weaker afferent signaling. If age-related loss of urethral sensitivity contributes to geriatric UAB by impairing voiding reflexes (possibly AR), improving the signaling of urethral afferents by electrical stimulation might regain some lost function.

It has been suggested that pudendal nerve stimulation may be an effective therapy for neurogenic bladder dysfunction (76, 92). Recent animal studies indicate that activating sensory fibers in the pudendal nerve can cause bladder emptying (7, 40) by inducing synergic bladder activation and external urethral relaxation (6). The risk associated with surgically exposing the pudendal nerve and implanting electrodes for experimental purposes, however, limits its potential.

Needle-based percutaneous electrodes have been widely utilized in clinical settings for many years (37). In the lower urinary tract system, Spinelli et al. investigated the effect of percutaneous stimulation of the pudendal nerve on patients with overactive bladder (79). Because the pudendal nerve innervates the pelvic muscles, external urethral and anal sphincters, and pelvic organs, there have been several attempts to stimulate it, all with the goal of improving multiple impaired LUT functions (48, 76, 92).

In this chapter, we evaluated the effectiveness of percutaneous electrical stimulation of a pudendal nerve in aged rats on voiding efficiency (VE) and bladder capacity (BC). Low VE and high BC (bladder overdistension) are common symptoms observed in UAB patients. BC is the volume at which the first voiding contraction is observed. VE indicates how well the bladder can expel the urine and is defined according to equation 1, where V_{ν} is the volume voided and V_r is the residual volume.

$$VE = \left(\frac{V_v}{V_v + V_r}\right) \times 100 \tag{1}$$

4.2 Method

All animal care and experimental procedures were reviewed and approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee at Florida International University. Fifteen old (18-24 months) female Sprague-Dawley rats (Charles River, Charleston, SC, USA) were used in this study, and all animals received food and water ad libitum. All studies were acute. Animals were anesthetized initially with isoflurane gas followed by injecting 1.2g/kg urethane (dissolved as 0.2 mg ml-1 in 0.9% saline solution) subcutaneously using a 27-gauge needle. The foot pinch reflex of animals was tested one hour after injection, and the supplemental doses (0.1 g/kg, every 30 minutes) were injected until the foot withdrawal reflex abated. We used urethane because it provides a stable depth of anesthesia and preserves the urinary tract reflexes in animal studies (57).

Animals were euthanized by intraperitoneal injection of Sodium Pentobarbital after the experiment.

4.3 Experimental protocol

The bladder was exposed via an abdominal incision, and we passed a catheter (PE 50, heatflared tips) through a small incision in the apex of the bladder dome and placed in series with a pressure transducer to monitor bladder pressure (sampled at 100Hz). The distal urethral outlet was not obstructed, allowing the fluid introduced to the urethra via the internal catheter to exit distally. We used a computer-controlled infusion pump to infuse room temperature 0.9% saline solution (sodium chloride in distilled water, 154 mM) to the bladder and the urethra. Electromyogram (EMG) of the external urethral sphincter (EUS) was recorded by inserting two insulated stainless-steel wires (de-insulated at the tips) percutaneously into the EUS (bandpass filtered from 3 to 3000 Hz, 1000×amplification, sampled at 4000 Hz). All data were recorded on a PowerLab 16/35 system (ADInstruments, Colorado Springs, CO). A pair of needle electrodes (stainless steel, BIOPAC System) was placed close to the sensory branch of the pudendal nerve. We applied the stimulation starting low amplitude (and 1Hz frequency) until we get a motor response in EUS and called that motor threshold stimulation (TS). Then, the bladder was filled continuously with saline, the bladder pressure was recorded, and the effect of different percentages of motor threshold stimulation ([0, 0.25-0.4, 0.6-0.75, 1, 1.5-3] × TS, 20Hz, 0.1 ms) on VE and BC was evaluated. Each stimulation condition was called a "trial" and tested once in most animals, and twice in a couple of them. Initially, the set of $([0, 0.25, 0.5, 0.75, 1, 1.5, 3] \times$ TS) was used to test the effect of stimulation on VE and BC. However, after the experiment was finished and during data analysis, we realized that in two animals in the bladder filling phase, TS-level stimulation did not evoke motor response in EMG data (it did initially when the bladder was empty). Therefore, we replaced the $1.5 \times TS$ stimulation amplitude

with TS-level stimulation, adjusted the other stimulations correspondingly and categorized our stimulation values in different bins instead of a single value. Since the bladder capacity is defined as the bladder volume at which the first voiding contraction occurs, we computed the BC as the bladder filling rate multiplied by the time duration when the first voiding contraction was observed. To minimize the carryover effect, we randomized the trials for each animal and introduced a delay of 20 minutes between them.

Figure. 20 shows EUS EMG in response to different stimulation amplitudes. The figure shows that starting from Figure. 20C, the stimulation amplitude can generate the motor response in EUS EMG. The amplitude of the response becomes larger as the stimulation amplitude increases (Figure. 20C to Figure. 20E), meaning more fibers are recruited. The increase in the amplitude of response continues until the point at which all the fibers are recruited (Figure. 20E and Figure. 20F have almost the same EMG response).

One-way ANOVA was used for statistical analysis, and the post-hoc analysis was computed by Turkey HSD.

4.4 Results

The bladder was filled, the bladder pressure was recorded and the effect of different trials on VE and BC was tested. Figure. 21, Figure. 22 and Figure. 23 show the bladder pressure and their corresponding VE in 3 typical age animals. In these figures, panel "A" shows the bladder pressure and VE at control condition (no stimulation), panel "B" shows the bladder pressure and VE when stimulation amplitude= $(0.25-4) \times TS$, panel "C" shows the bladder pressure and VE when stimulation amplitude= $(0.6-0.75) \times TS$ and panel "D" shows the bladder pressure and VE when stimulation amplitude= TS. Stimulation amplitudes less than TS (panels B and C) can evoke a bladder contraction and increase VE. To show the effect of stimulation on VE and BC in old animals, we computed the change of VE and BC by subtracting the VE and BC values at no stimulation trial (control) from their value in response to stimulation at each trial (Figure. 24A and Figure. 24B). VE and BC values at each trial were shown as solid circles and different colors represent different animals. Each trial was tested once in most animals, and twice in a couple of them. When more than one trial was performed for an animal, the average value of VE or BC was considered. Figure. 24C and Figure. 24D show VE and BC in old animals and Figure. 24E and Figure. 24F show the average VE and BC at each trial across animal ages. The results in Figure. 24 show that when the stimulation amplitude is $[0.6-0.75] \times TS$, voiding efficiency increases (p=0.031, one-way ANOVA), and bladder capacity decrease (p=0.004, one-way ANOVA). However, if the stimulation amplitude equals TS, the voiding efficiency and bladder capacity will not change (p=0.69, p=0.86).

4.5 Discussion

In this chapter, we evaluated the effectiveness of percutaneous stimulation of the pudendal nerve on voiding efficiency and bladder capacity in aged animals. The low stimulation amplitudes (\leq TS) could increase VE and decrease BC. The largest increase in VE was at ([0.6-0.75]) × TS), at which the bladder capacity decreased significantly. However, higher stimulation amplitudes (\geq TS) could not improve VE and BC.

The results in Figure. 24 showed that the stimulation amplitudes less than TS could improve UAB symptoms but the high amplitude stimulation did not have any effect. The differences in responses elicited by low and high stimulation intensities might be due to the activation of distinct classes of pudendal afferents based on their diameters. Pudendal afferents include myelinated A β , A δ and unmyelinated C fibers (101). Larger diameter

nerve fibers like A α or A β have low threshold for extracellular stimulation, whereas unmyelinated C fibers have high stimulation threshold (24, 54). These findings are consistent with bladder excitation caused by activation of larger myelinated A-type fibers at low stimulation amplitudes and inhibition caused by activation of the inhibitory urethrovesical reflex mediated by urethral c-fibers at higher stimulation amplitudes (83).

The underlying mechanism by which sacral or pudendal nerve stimulation can improve bladder dysfunction symptoms remains unclear (31). Our results showed that percutaneous stimulation of the pudendal nerve could increase voiding efficiency and decrease the volume threshold for evoking bladder contraction (BC). This is consistent with a previous study which showed that electrical stimulation of pudendal afferents could evoke the bladder contraction at lower bladder volumes than distension-evoked activity (94). The fact that the superposition of pelvic and pudendal afferent activity is responsible for bladder excitation evoked by pudendal afferents (94), and Figure. 6 and Figure. 7 showed the engagement of AR (urethral to bladder reflex) is delayed with age (possibly due to reduced pudendal afferent activity), indicate that the stimulation might have improved the voiding efficiency by increasing the signaling of pudendal afferents and prevent the bladder from overdistension. In fact, percutaneous stimulation of the pudendal nerve might have facilitated the engagement of AR to lower bladder volumes by improving the signaling of urethral afferents. However, additional studies are required to evaluate the causal link.

AR is a reflex from pudendal afferents to bladder efferent whose activation is required for efficient voiding. Figure. 3 showed that the sensitivity of AR decreases with age which can have mechanical or non-mechanical (neuropathy of pudendal nerve) origins (chapter 3). In this chapter, we tested the effect of stimulation of pudendal nerve on VE of all animals in

aging group. Figure. 24C shows that the VE in aged animals (at no stimulation) has a big variability ranging from 20% to 80% and the stimulation is more effective in increasing VE in animals which have low VE. That means, in animals with low VE, there might be severe neuropathy in pudendal nerve and electrical stimulation could have improved it by increasing the signaling of pudendal afferents. In fact, the effectiveness of electrical stimulation on improving VE depends on the extent of neuropathy in the pudendal nerve. Therefore, in animals with large VE, the stimulation may not be very effective due to the low level of neuropathy in the pudendal nerve. However, since the pudendal afferents of aged animals after the stimulation study were not histologically tested, additional studies are required to evaluate the casual link.

Figure. 21, Figure. 22 and Figure. 23 showed that each stimulation condition (trial) was tested once in most animals, and twice in a couple of them because based on our age-reflex study (chapter 2), most of the old animals are not stable enough under anesthesia for a long time (they die or have no bladder contraction in the second run) and we wanted to test the effect of all trials on each individual animal's VE and BC. However, based on our previous experiments (3, 32) and other studies (97), the within animal variation of voiding efficiency in a same trial is very small.

While stimulation of pudendal afferents with low frequency (<10Hz) can inhibit the bladder contractions, high-frequency stimulation (20-40Hz) produces bladder excitation (8, 66, 67). Boggs et al. (6) found that higher frequency stimulation (20–40 Hz) is more effective than 10 Hz stimulation in triggering bladder contractions, which is consistent with the firing rates of urethral afferents in response to urethral fluid flow (43). The results of Figure. 24 are based on using a fixed frequency (20Hz) with varying stimulation

amplitudes. Our results showed that the low stimulation amplitudes (less than TS) could increase voiding efficiency, and high stimulation amplitudes could prevent the bladder from expelling urine at 20Hz frequency. However, more research is needed to determine the appropriate stimulation parameters and to confirm the long-term results.

Figure. 21, Figure. 22 and Figure. 23 showed that electrical stimulation was applied continuously until the end of first observed voiding contraction. It has been shown that continuous stimulation may limit the effectiveness of stimulation for a long time due to nerve habituation. However, conditional stimulation might be more effective and save power by reducing the stimulation time by 67% (93).

Figures



Figure 20. The EUS EMG in response to different stimulation amplitudes. A: 0.15ma, B: 0.25ma, C: 0.5ma, D: 0.7ma, E: 0.9ma, F: 1.2ma. The figure shows that starting from C, the stimulation amplitude can generate the motor response in EUS EMG. The amplitude of

the response becomes larger as the stimulation amplitude increases (C to E), meaning more fibers are recruited. The increase in the amplitude of response continues until the point at which all the fibers are recruited (E and F have the same EMG response).



Figure 21. Bladder pressure (blue) and voiding efficiency (VE) in response to different stimulation amplitudes in an aging animal. A: no stimulation, B: stimulation amplitude= $(0.25-4) \times TS$, C: stimulation amplitude= $(0.6-0.75) \times TS$, D: stimulation amplitude= TS. The black bar shows the stimulation period.



Figure 22. Bladder pressure (blue) and voiding efficiency (VE) in response to different stimulation amplitudes in an aging animal. A: no stimulation, B: stimulation amplitude=

 $(0.25-4) \times TS$, C: stimulation amplitude= $(0.6-0.75) \times TS$, D: stimulation amplitude= TS. The black bar shows the stimulation period.



Figure 23. Bladder pressure (blue) and voiding efficiency (VE) in response to different stimulation amplitudes in an aging animal. A: no stimulation, B: stimulation amplitude= $(0.25-4) \times \text{TS}$, C: stimulation amplitude= $(0.6-0.75) \times \text{TS}$, D: stimulation amplitude= TS. The black bar shows the stimulation period.



Figure 24. A: the change in voiding efficiency (VE) in old animals (each color corresponds to one animal) in response to different stimulation amplitudes. B: the corresponding change in bladder capacity (BC) in old animals in response to different stimulation amplitudes. C: the VE in old animals in response to different stimulation amplitudes. D: the BC in old animals in response to different stimulation amplitudes. E: voiding efficiency in response to different stimulation amplitudes averaged across animals. F: bladder capacity in response to different stimulation amplitudes averaged across animals. Error bars in E and F are standard errors.

CHAPTER 5

DISSERTATION CONCLUSIONS

5.1 Summary

In this study, the functionality of voiding reflexes with age was evaluated, the contributing factors that can lead to weakness of voiding reflexes were identified and the efficacy of percutaneous stimulation of urethral nerve on improving the symptoms of UAB in aged rats was tested.

We evaluated the role of sensory feedback from the bladder and the urethra independently on reflex bladder contractions using a split preparation method. We showed that the same urethra flow rate evoked bladder contractions in older animals less often than in younger ones, and within all age groups higher urethra flow rate trials evoked contractions more frequently. We also found that the AR required a fuller bladder to become active in old rats than in young rats, suggesting a functional decline age-related activation of urinary tract reflexes associated with the "voiding mode". Old rats also exhibited longer and weaker bladder contractions than the young or mature groups. Taken together, the results of our first experiment (chapter 2) are consistent with the hypothesis that the sensitivity of urinary tract reflexes declines with age, which may contribute to some age-related voiding dysfunction such as UAB.

The sensitivity reduction of AR (urethral to bladder reflex) with age encouraged us to evaluate the afferent signaling in the pudendal nerve, which carries urethral sensation. We evaluated the signaling of urethral afferents by directly measuring its activity in response to urethral infusion and found that equivalent flow rates evoked less urethral afferent activity in the older rats. To understand what factors were driving the afferent reduction, we examined the pudendal nerves histologically and measured the pressures that developed in the urethra during infusion. We found evidence that axonal myelination decreased in old rats and lower pressures developed in the urethra of older rats during infusion. Our results suggest that this age-related reduction in urethral afferent outflow is mediated by a mechanical component, presumably a more compliant urethra, and a non-mechanical component, presumably neuropathy.

The effectiveness of percutaneous electrical stimulation of a pudendal nerve in aged rats on voiding efficiency (VE) and bladder capacity (BC) was evaluated. We showed that the minimally invasive stimulation of urethral nerves could increase voiding efficiency and prevent the bladder from overdistension in animals with UAB symptoms.

5.2 Conclusions

The following conclusions have been drawn based on the results of our experiments in previous chapters.

- There is an age-related functional weakening, dysregulation and loss of sensitivity in LUT reflexes (urethral afferent to bladder efferent reflex and bladder afferent to bladder efferent reflex), which may contribute to age-related UAB symptoms.
- Afferent activity in the pudendal nerve, which carries urethral sensation and initiates augmenting reflex, decreases with age, and a combination of urethral afferent degradation and an increase in urethral compliance might contribute to a reduction in urethral sensory outflow.
- Percutaneous stimulation of pudendal nerve could increase voiding efficiency and prevent the bladder from overdistension in animals with UAB symptoms.

5.3 Limitations

The methodology of our study has a number of limitations that we note here to help clarify the interpretation of our results. 1) We tied a catheter around the bladder neck to infuse the ure thra. This might prevent mechanical distension of the proximal ure thra and influence flow-evoked pressure (or tension) and afferent activity results. 2) It is possible that urethane anesthesia dosed according to body weight (the gold-standard approach) does not result in equal responses in young and old animals. If urethane suppresses afferent activity or ure thral muscle tone to a different extent in old rats than young rats, the anesthesia itself could contribute to the differences we observe between ages. 3) Our study isolated and quantified the fundamental response of urethral afferents and urethral pressure to applied ure thra flow. To perform this characterization, we needed to remove many potentially confounding aspects present in natural voiding, which included enforcing a constant flow rate throughout urethral infusion and maintaining an empty bladder, neither of which is typical of physiological voiding. Therefore, our results specifically highlight changes in fundamental afferent activity related to aging and cannot be used to directly infer functional age-related differences. This work only discovered that age-related differences in afferent responses and pressures exist, but their explanatory role in functional age-related LUT decline remains to be determined. 4) We measured urethral pressure rather than tension, which is very likely the primary sensed urethral stimuli. If these two quantities diverge substantially during infusion, our estimate of the mechanical effects on age-related afferent loss may also change. We expect any effects of using pressure as a surrogate for tension to be small, since these variables will be highly correlated with each other in many physiological conditions, and multiple models have shown success predicting urethral

afferent discharge from pressure information. 5) most of the stimulation trials tested only once in most of the animals. This was mainly because aged rats are not stable under anesthesia and their bladder gets non-responsive or they die. However, our previous experiments and previous research studies have shown that the within animal variation of VE and BC is small.

5.4 Future work

In this study we showed that percutaneous stimulation of the pudendal nerve could increase voiding efficiency and decrease the volume threshold for evoking bladder contraction (BC). The fact that the superposition of pelvic and pudendal afferent activity is responsible for bladder excitation evoked by pudendal afferents (94), and our results in chapter 2 that showed the engagement of AR (urethral to bladder reflex) is delayed with age (possibly due to reduced pudendal afferent activity), indicate that the stimulation might have improved the voiding efficiency by increasing the signaling of pudendal afferents and prevent the bladder from overdistension. However, the signaling of pudendal afferents needs to be recorded and evaluated in the future studies to understand the causal link.

The VE in aged animals (at no stimulation) had a big variability ranging from 20% to 80% and the percutaneous stimulation of pudendal nerve was more effective on increasing VE in animals which had low VE. That means, in animals with low VE, there might be severe neuropathy in pudendal nerve and electrical stimulation could have improved it by increasing the signaling of pudendal afferents. In fact, the effectiveness of electrical stimulation on improving VE depends on the extent of neuropathy in the pudendal nerve. Therefore, in animals with large VE, the stimulation may not be very effective due to the

low level of neuropathy in the pudendal nerve. However, since the pudendal afferents of aged animals after the stimulation study were not histologically tested, additional studies are required to evaluate the casual link.

The significant reduction in the bladder blood flow observed in elderly patients might indicate that vascular risk factors for atherosclerosis, which eventually lead to bladder ischemia, may have important role in the development of lower urinary tract dysfunctions with age. Therefore, understanding the time course of the progression of vascular dysfunction might prevent the bladder nerve and muscle degradation and bladder dysfunctions in elderly (71).

REFERENCES

- 1. Abrams P, Cardozo L, Fall M, Griffiths D, Rosier P, Ulmsten U, Van Kerrebroeck P, Victor A, Wein A. The standardisation of terminology in lower urinary tract function: Report from the standardisation sub-committee of the International Continence Society. *Urology* 61: 37–49, 2003. doi: 10.1016/S0090-4295(02)02243-4.
- 2. Andersson KE, Arner A. Urinary bladder contraction and relaxation: Physiology and pathophysiology. *Physiol Rev* 84: 935–986, 2004. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00038.2003.
- 3. **Angoli D, Geramipour A, Danziger ZC**. Validation of an efficient and continuous urodynamic monitoring system for awake, unrestrained, chronic rodent studies. *Am J Physiol Ren Physiol* 318: F86–F95, 2020. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.00349.2019.
- 4. **Barrington FJF**. the Nervous Mechanism of Micturition. *Q J Exp Physiol* 8: 33–71, 1914. doi: 10.1113/expphysiol.1914.sp000171.
- 5. **Beckel JM**, **Holstege G**. Neurophysiology of the lower urinary tract. *Handb Exp Pharmacol* 202: 149–169, 2011. doi: 10.1007/978-3-642-16499-6_8.
- 6. **Boggs JW, Wenzel BJ, Gustafson KJ, Grill WM**. Spinal micturition reflex mediated by afferents in the deep perineal nerve. *J Neurophysiol* 93: 2688–2697, 2005. doi: 10.1152/jn.00978.2004.
- 7. **Boggs JW**, **Wenzel BJ**, **Gustafson KJ**, **Grill WM**. Bladder emptying by intermittent electrical stimulation of the pudendal nerve. *J Neural Eng* 3: 43–51, 2006. doi: 10.1088/1741-2560/3/1/005.
- 8. **Boggs JW**, **Wenzel BJ**, **Gustafson KJ**, **Grill WM**. Frequency-dependent selection of reflexes by pudendal afferents in the cat. *J Physiol* 577: 115–126, 2006. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2006.111815.
- 9. Chai TC, Andersson KE, Tuttle JB, Steers WD. Altered neural control of micturition in the aged F344 rat. *Urol Res* 28: 348–354, 2000. doi: 10.1007/s002400000135.
- 10. **Chai TC**, **Kudze T**. New therapeutic directions to treat underactive bladder. *Investig Clin Urol* 58: S99–S106, 2017. doi: 10.4111/icu.2017.58.S2.S99.
- 11. Chancellor MB, Diokno AC. The underactive bladder. *Springer*. 2016. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-23687-2.

- 12. Chang YL, Lin ATL, Chen KK, Chang LS. The caliber and length of the urethra in asymptomatic Taiwanese adult females. *Urol Sci* 21: 93–95, 2010. doi: 10.1016/S1879-5226(10)60019-X.
- 13. Chen SC, Grill WM, Fan WJ, Kou YR, Lin YS, Lai CH, Peng CW. Bilateral pudendal afferent stimulation improves bladder emptying in rats with urinary retention. *BJU Int* 109: 1051–1058, 2012. doi: 10.1111/j.1464-410X.2011.10526.x.
- 14. **Chuang YC, Plata M, Lamb LE, Chancellor MB**. Underactive Bladder in Older Adults. *Clin Geriatr Med* 31: 523–533, 2015. doi: 10.1016/j.cger.2015.06.002.
- 15. **Coelho A, Charrua A, Oliveira R, Cavaleiro H, Cruz CD, Cruz F**. Underactive bladder in aging rats is associated with a reduced number of serotonin-expressing cells in the urethra and is improved by serotonin application to the urethra. *LUTS Low. Urin. Tract Symptoms* 11: 248–254, 2019.
- 16. **Coelho A, Oliveira R, Cavaleiro H, Cruz CD, Cruz F**. Evidence for an urethrovesical crosstalk mediated by serotonin. *Neurourol. Urodyn.* 37: 2389–2397, 2018.
- Collas DM, Malone-Lee JG. Age-associated changes in detrusor sensory function in women with lower urinary tract symptoms. *Int Urogynecol J* 7: 24–29, 1996. doi: 10.1007/BF01895101.
- Daneshgari F, Liu G, Birder L, Hanna-Mitchell AT, Chacko S. Diabetic Bladder Dysfunction: Current Translational Knowledge. J Urol 182: S18–S26, 2009. doi: 10.1016/j.juro.2009.08.070.
- 19. **Danziger ZC**, **Grill WM**. Dynamics of the sensory response to urethral flow over multiple time scales in rat. *J Physiol* 593: 3351–3371, 2015. doi: 10.1113/JP270911.
- 20. **Danziger ZC**, **Grill WM**. Sensory and circuit mechanisms mediating lower urinary tract reflexes. *Auton Neurosci Basic Clin* 200: 21–28, 2016. doi: 10.1016/j.autneu.2015.06.004.
- 21. **Danziger ZC**, **Grill WM**. Sensory feedback from the urethra evokes statedependent lower urinary tract reflexes in rat. *J. Physiol*. 595: 5687–5698, 2017.
- 22. **De Groat WC**. The urothelium in overactive bladder: Passive bystander or active participant? *Urology* 64: 7–11, 2004. doi: 10.1016/j.urology.2004.08.063.
- 23. **Evans JP**. Observations on the nerves of supply to the bladder and urethra of the cat, with a study of their action potentials. *J Physiol* 86: 396–414, 1936. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.1936.sp003375.

- 24. **Fang ZP**, **Mortimer JT**. Selective Activation of Small Motor Axons by Spiral Cuff Electrode and Qusi-Trapezoidal Stimulus Pulses. *Neurology* 13: 1698-, 1987.
- 25. **FDA Center for Drug Evaluation and Research**. Approval package for: Lidocaine Hydrochloride Jelly USP, 2% [Online]. http://www.accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda_docs/nda/2004/021732s000_Vantas_Cli nPharmR.pdf.
- Fidas A, Galloway, Varma J, McInnes A, Chisholm GD. Sacral Reflex Latency in Acute Retention in Female Patients. *Br J Urol* 59: 311–313, 1987. doi: 10.1111/j.1464-410X.1987.tb04638.x.
- 27. **Finkbeiner AE**. The aging bladder. *Int Urogynecol J* 4: 168–174, 1993. doi: 10.1007/BF00571628.
- 28. **Fowler CJ, Griffiths D, De Groat WC**. The neural control of micturition. *Nat Rev Neurosci* 9: 453–466, 2008. doi: 10.1038/nrn2401.
- 29. **Fowler CJ, Griffiths D, Groat WC De**. Neural control of micturition. *Nat Rev Neurosci* 9: 453–466, 2010. doi: 10.1038/nrn2401.The.
- Gammie A, Kaper M, Dorrepaal C, Kos T, Abrams P. Signs and Symptoms of Detrusor Underactivity: An Analysis of Clinical Presentation and Urodynamic Tests from a Large Group of Patients Undergoing Pressure Flow Studies. *Eur Urol* 69: 361–369, 2016. doi: 10.1016/j.eururo.2015.08.014.
- Gaziev G, Topazio L, Iacovelli V, Asimakopoulos A, Di Santo A, De Nunzio C, Finazzi-Agrò E. Percutaneous tibial nerve stimulation (PTNS) efficacy in the treatment of lower urinary tract dysfunctions: A systematic review. *BMC Urol* 13, 2013. doi: 10.1186/1471-2490-13-61.
- 32. **Geramipour A, Danziger ZC**. Sensitivity of urethral flow-evoked voiding reflexes decline with age in the rat: Insights into age-related underactive bladder. *Am J Physiol Ren Physiol* 318: F1430–F1440, 2020. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.00475.2019.
- Geramipour A, Makki S, Erfanian A. Neural network based forward prediction of bladder pressure using pudendal nerve electrical activity. *Proc Annu Int Conf IEEE Eng Med Biol Soc EMBS* 2015-Novem: 4745–4748, 2015. doi: 10.1109/EMBC.2015.7319454.
- Glipin SA, Glipin CJ, Dixon JS, Gosling JA, Kirby RS. The Effect of Age on the Autonomic Innervation of the Urinary Bladder. *Br J Urol* 58: 378–381, 1986. doi: 10.1111/j.1464-410X.1986.tb09089.x.

- 35. **Gonzalez EJ**, **Grill WM**. The effects of neuromodulation in a novel obese-prone rat model of detrusor underactivity. *Am J Physiol Ren Physiol* 313: F815–F825, 2017. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.00242.2017.
- 36. **Griffiths DJ, Rollema HJ**. Urine flow curves of healthy males: a mathematical model of bladder and urethal function during micturition. *Med Biol Eng Comput* 17: 291–300, 1979. doi: 10.1007/BF02443813.
- 37. **Grill PBY and WM**. Minimally-Invasive Electrical Stimulation of the Pudendal Nerve: A Pre-Clinical Study for Neural Control of the Lower Urinary Tract. *Neurourol Urodyn* 569: 562–569, 2007. doi: 10.1002/nau.
- Grill WM, Craggs MD, Foreman RD, Ludlow CL, Buller JL. Emerging clinical applications of electrical stimulation: Opportunities for restoration of function. J Rehabil Res Dev 38: 641–653, 2001.
- 39. Groat WCDE, Lalley PM. Reflex firing in the lumbar sympathetic outflow to activation of vesical afferent fibers. *J Physiol* 226: 289-309, 1972. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.1972.sp009985.
- 40. Hokanson JA, Langdale CL, Sridhar A, Milliken P, Grill WM. State-dependent bioelectronic interface to control bladder function. *Sci. Rep.* 11: 2021.
- 41. **Hotta H, Morrison JFB SA and US**. The effects of aging on the rat bladder and its innervation. *Jpn J Physiol* 45: 823–836, 1995.
- 42. **Hsieh TH, Lin YT, Chen SC, Peng CW**. Chronic pudendal neuromodulation using an implantable microstimulator improves voiding function in diabetic rats. *J Neural Eng* 13, 2016. doi: 10.1088/1741-2560/13/4/046001.
- 43. J. K. Todd. Afferent impulses in the nerves supplying the urinary bladder. *Exp Physiol* 49: 258–267, 1964.
- 44. **Jaramillo LM**, **Balcazar IB**, **Duran C**. Using vaginal wall impedance to determine estrous cycle phase in Lewis rats. *Lab Anim (NY)* 41: 122–128, 2012. doi: 10.1038/laban0512-122.
- 45. Jung S, Fraser MO, Ozawa H, Yokoyama O, Yoshiyama M, De Groat WC, Chancellor MB. Urethral afferent nerve activity affects the micturition reflex; implication for the relationship between stress incontinence and detrusor instability. *J Urol* 162: 204–212, 1999. doi: 10.1097/00005392-199907000-00069.

- 46. **Kakizaki H, Fraser MO, De Groat WC**. Reflex pathways controlling urethral striated and smooth muscle function in the male rat. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* 272, 1997. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.1997.272.5.r1647.
- 47. Kenton K, Lowenstein L, Simmons J, Brubaker L. Aging and Overactive Bladder May Be Associated With Loss of Urethral Sensation in Women. *Neurourol Urodyn* 984: 981–984, 2007. doi: 10.1002/nau.
- 48. **Kirkham APS, Shah NC, Knight SL, Shah PJR, Craggs MD**. The acute effects of continuous and conditional neuromodulation on the bladder in spinal cord injury. *Spinal Cord* 39: 420–428, 2001. doi: 10.1038/sj.sc.3101177.
- 49. Knopp M, A. Rajabally Y. Common and Less Common Peripheral Nerve Disorders Associated with Diabetes. *Curr Diabetes Rev* 8: 229–236, 2012. doi: 10.2174/157339912800564034.
- 50. Kullmann FA, Chang HH, Gauthier C, McDonnell BM, Yeh JC, Clayton DR, Kanai AJ, de Groat WC, Apodaca GL, Birder LA. Serotonergic paraneurones in the female mouse urethral epithelium and their potential role in peripheral sensory information processing. *Acta Physiol* 222: 1–18, 2018. doi: 10.1111/apha.12919.
- 51. LaPallo BK, Wolpaw JR, Chen XY, Carp JS. Long-term recording of external urethral sphincter EMG activity in unanesthetized, unrestrained rats. *Am J Physiol Ren Physiol* 307: 485–497, 2014. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.00059.2014.
- Le Feber J, Van Asselt E, Van Mastrigt R. Neurophysiological modeling of voiding in rats: Urethral nerve response to urethral pressure and flow. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* 274, 1998. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.1998.274.5.r1473.
- Le Feber J, Van Asselt E, Van Mastrigt R. Neurophysiological modeling of voiding in rats: Urethral nerve response to urethral pressure and flow. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* 274, 1998. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.1998.274.5.r1473.
- 54. Li CL, Bak A. Excitability characteristics of the A- and C-fibers in a peripheral nerve. *Exp Neurol* 50: 67–79, 1976. doi: 10.1016/0014-4886(76)90236-3.
- 55. Liu TT, Thomas S, Mclean DT, Roldan-Alzate A, Hernando D, Ricke EA, Ricke WA. Prostate enlargement and altered urinary function are part of the aging process. *Aging (Albany NY)* 11: 2653–2669, 2019. doi: 10.18632/aging.101938.
- 56. Lluel P, Palea S, Barras M, Grandadam F, Heudes D, Bruneval P, Corman B, Martin DJ. Functional and morphological modifications of the urinary bladder in aging female rats. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* 278: 964–972, 2000. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.2000.278.4.r964.

- 57. **Matsuura S**, **Downie JW**. Effect of anesthetics on reflex micturition in the chronic cannula- implanted rat. *Neurourol. Urodyn.* 19: 87–99, 2000.
- 58. **McKenna KE**, **Nadelhaft I**. The organization of the pudendal nerve in the male and female rat. *J Comp Neurol* 248: 532–549, 1986. doi: 10.1002/cne.902480406.
- Melcangi RC, Magnaghi V, Martini L. Aging in peripheral nerves: Regulation of myelin protein genes by steroid hormones. *Prog Neurobiol* 60: 291–308, 2000. doi: 10.1016/S0301-0082(99)00028-3.
- 60. **Miyazato M, Yoshimura N, Chancellor MB**. The Other Bladder Syndrome : Underactive Bladder. *Rev Urol* 15: 11–22, 2013. doi: 10.3909/riu0558.
- 61. Nakayama H, Noda K, Hotta H, Ohsawa H, Hosoya Y. Effects of aging on numbers, sizes and conduction velocities of myelinated and unmyelinated fibers of the pelvic nerve in rats. *J Auton Nerv Syst* 69: 148–155, 1998. doi: 10.1016/S0165-1838(98)00013-7.
- 62. **Oshiro T, Kimura R, Izumi K, Ashikari A, Saito S, Miyazato M**. Changes in urethral smooth muscle and external urethral sphincter function with age in rats. *Physiol Rep* 8: 1–9, 2021. doi: 10.14814/phy2.14643.
- 63. **Parys BT, Machin DG, Woolfenden KA, Parsons KF**. Chronic Urinary Retention—a Sensory Problem? *Br J Urol* 62: 546–549, 1988. doi: 10.1111/j.1464-410X.1988.tb04423.x.
- 64. **Patra PB**. Estrous cycle alters micturition pattern in conscious rat. *Urologia* 80: 70–73, 2013. doi: 10.5301/RU.2013.10756.
- 65. **Paul B. Yoo, John P. Woock and WMG**. Bladder Activation by Selective Stimulation of Pudendal Nerve Afferents in the Cat. *Exp Neurol* 212: 218–225, 2008. doi: 10.1038/jid.2014.371.
- 66. **Peng CW, Jason Chen JJ, Cheng CL and GW**. Improved bladder emptying in urinary retention by electrical stimulation of pudendal afferents. *J Neural Eng* 5: 144–154, 2008. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.110.956839.
- 67. **Peng CW**, **Chen JJJ**, **Cheng CL**, **Grill WM**. Role of pudendal afferents in voiding efficiency in the rat. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* 294: 660–672, 2008. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00270.2007.
- 68. **Peng CW**, **Chen JJJ**, **Cheng CL**, **Grill WM**. Role of pudendal afferents in voiding efficiency in the rat. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* 294: 660–672, 2008. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00270.2007.

- 69. **Perucchini D, DeLancey JOL, Ashton-Miller JA, Galecki A, Schaer GN**. Age effects on urethral striated muscle: II. Anatomic location of muscle loss. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 186: 356–360, 2002. doi: 10.1067/mob.2002.121090.
- Perucchini D, DeLancey JOL, Ashton-Miller JA, Peschers U, Kataria T. Age effects on urethral striated muscle: I. Changes in number and diameter of striated muscle fibers in the ventral urethra. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 186: 351–355, 2002. doi: 10.1067/mob.2002.121089.
- 71. Pinggera GM, Mitterberger M, Steiner E, Pallwein L, Frauscher F, Aigner F, Bartsch G, Strasser H. Association of lower urinary tract symptoms and chronic ischaemia of the lower urinary tract in elderly women and men: Assessment using colour Doppler ultrasonography. *BJU Int* 102: 470–474, 2008. doi: 10.1111/j.1464-410X.2008.07587.x.
- 72. **Rijkhoff NJM**, **Wijkstra H**, **Van Kerrebroeck PEV**, **Debruyne FMJ**. Urinary bladder control by electrical stimulation: Review of electrical stimulation techniques in spinal cord injury. *Neurourol Urodyn* 16: 39–53, 1997. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1520-6777(1997)16:1<39::AID-NAU6>3.0.CO;2-F.
- 73. **Russell B, Baumann M, Heidkamp MC, Svanborg A**. Morphometry of the aging female rat urethra. *Int Urogynecol J* 7: 30–36, 1996. doi: 10.1007/BF01895103.
- 74. Sanai SA, Saini V, Benedict RHB, Zivadinov R, Teter BE, Ramanathan M, Weinstock-Guttman B. Aging and multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler* 22: 717–725, 2016. doi: 10.1177/1352458516634871.
- 75. Sasio Jezernik MC, Grill WM, Creasey G, Rijkhoff and NJM. Electrical stimulation for the treatment of bladder dysfunction: Current status and future possibilities. *Neurol Res* 24: 413–430, 2002.
- 76. Schmidt RA. Technique of pudendal nerve localization for block or stimulation. *J Urol* 142: 1528–1531, 1989. doi: 10.1016/S0022-5347(17)39150-4.
- 77. **Sengupta P**. The laboratory rat: Relating its age with human's. *Int J Prev Med* 4: 624–630, 2013.
- Shafik A, Shafik AA, El-Sibai O, Ahmed I. Role of positive urethrovesical feedback in vesical evacuation. The concept of a second micturition reflex: The urethrovesical reflex. *World J Urol* 21: 167–170, 2003. doi: 10.1007/s00345-003-0340-5.

- 79. Spinelli M, Malaguti S, Giardiello G, Lazzeri M, Tarantola J, Van Den Hombergh U. A new minimally invasive procedure for pudendal nerve stimulation to treat neurogenic bladder: Description of the method and preliminary data. *Neurourol Urodyn* 24: 305–309, 2005. doi: 10.1002/nau.20118.
- Suk Young Jung, Fraser MO, Ozawa H, Yokoyama O, Yoshiyama M, De Groat WC, Chancellor MB. Urethral afferent nerve activity affects the micturition reflex; implication for the relationship between stress incontinence and detrusor instability. *J Urol* 162: 204–212, 1999. doi: 10.1097/00005392-199907000-00069.
- 81. **Theobald R**. Purinergic and cholinergic components of bladder contractility and flow. *Life Sci* 56: 445–454, 1995.
- 82. Thor KB, Morgan C, Nadelhaft I, Houston M, de Groat WC. Organization of afferent and efferent pathways in the pudendal nerve of the female cat. *J Comp Neurol* 288: 263–279, 1989. doi: 10.1002/cne.902880206.
- 83. **Thor KB**, **Muhlhauser MA**, **Karl B**, **Vesicoanal MAM**. Vesicoanal, urethroanal, and urethrovesical reflexes initiated by lower urinary tract irritation in the rat. .
- 84. **Truschel ST, Clayton DR, Beckel JM, Yabes JG, Yao Y, Wolf-Johnston A, Birder LA, Apodaca G.** Age-related endolysosome dysfunction in the rat urothelium. *PLoS One* 13: 1–24, 2018. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0198817.
- 85. **Tyagi P, Smith PP, Kuchel GA, de Groat WC, Birder LA, Chermansky CJ, Adam RM, Tse V, Chancellor MB, Yoshimura N**. Pathophysiology and animal modeling of underactive bladder. *Int Urol Nephrol* 46: 11–21, 2014. doi: 10.1007/s11255-014-0808-9.
- 86. Ueda T, Yoshimura N, Yoshida O. Diabetic cystopathy: Relationship to autonomic neuropathy detected by sympathetic skin response. *J Urol* 157: 580–584, 1997. doi: 10.1016/S0022-5347(01)65209-1.
- 87. Uemura E, Fletcher TF, Bradley WE. Distribution of lumbar and sacral afferent axons in submucosa of cat urinary bladder. *Anat Rec* 183: 579–587, 1975. doi: 10.1002/ar.1091830408.
- 88. **United Nations, Department of Economic and Social Affairs PD**. World Population Ageing [Online]. http://www.un.org/en/development/desa/population/publications/pdf/ageing/WPA 2017_Highlights.pdf.
- 89. Uren AD, Drake MJ. Definition and symptoms of underactive bladder. *Investig Clin Urol* 58: S61–S67, 2017. doi: 10.4111/icu.2017.58.S2.S61.

- 90. Van Koeveringe GA, Rademakers KL, Birder LA, Korstanje C, Daneshgari F, Ruggieri MR, Igawa Y, Fry C WA. Detrusor Underactivity: Pathophysiological Considerations, Models and Proposals for Future Research. ICI-RS 2013. *Neurourol* Urodyn 32: 215–223, 2013. doi: 10.1002/nau.
- 91. Verdú E, Ceballos D, Vilches JJ, Navarro X. Influence of aging on peripheral nerve function and regeneration. *J Peripher Nerv Syst* 5: 191–208, 2000. doi: 10.1046/j.1529-8027.2000.00026.x.
- 92. Vodusek DB, Light JK, Libby JM. Detrusor inhibition induced by stimulation of pudendal nerve afferents. *Neurourol Urodyn* 5: 381–389, 1986. doi: 10.1002/nau.1930050404.
- 93. Wenzel BJ, Boggs JW, Gustafson KJ, Grill WM. Closed loop electrical control of urinary continence. *J Urol* 175: 1559–1563, 2006. doi: 10.1016/S0022-5347(05)00657-9.
- 94. Woock JP, Yoo PB, Grill WM. Mechanisms of reflex bladder activation by pudendal afferents. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* 300: 398–407, 2011. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00154.2010.
- 95. **Xu L, Gebhart GF**. Characterization of mouse lumbar splanchnic and pelvic nerve urinary bladder mechanosensory afferents. *J Neurophysiol* 99: 244–253, 2008. doi: 10.1152/jn.01049.2007.
- 96. Yanai-Inamura H, Ohashi R, Ishigami T, Hirata T, Kumakura F, Kono G, Yokono M, Takeda M, Miyata K. Urethral function and histopathology in aged female rats as a stress urinary incontinence model. *Low Urin Tract Symptoms* 11: 0186–0192, 2019. doi: 10.1111/luts.12209.
- 97. Yono M, Ito K, Oyama M, Tanaka T, Irie S, Matsukawa Y, Sekido N, Yoshida M, van Till O, Yamaguchi O. Variability of post-void residual urine volume and bladder voiding efficiency in patients with underactive bladder. *LUTS Low Urin Tract Symptoms* 13: 51–55, 2021. doi: 10.1111/luts.12325.
- 98. Yoo PB, Horvath EE, Amundsen CL, Webster GD, Grill WM. Multiple pudendal sensory pathways reflexly modulate bladder and urethral activity in patients with spinal cord injury. *J Urol* 185: 737–743, 2011. doi: 10.1016/j.juro.2010.09.079.
- 99. Yoshida M, Homma Y, Inadome A, Yono M, Seshita H, Miyamoto Y, Murakami S, Kawabe K, Ueda S. Age-related changes in cholinergic and purinergic neurotransmission in human isolated bladder smooth muscles. *Exp Gerontol* 36: 99–109, 2001. doi: 10.1016/S0531-5565(00)00175-3.

- 100. Yoshida M, Miyamae K, Iwashita H, Otani M, Inadome A. Management of detrusor dysfunction in the elderly: Changes in acetylcholine and adenosine triphosphate release during aging. Urology 63: 17–23, 2004. doi: 10.1016/j.urology.2003.11.003.
- 101. Yoshimura N, Seki S, Erickson KA, Erickson VL, Chancellor MB, De Groat WC. Histological and electrical properties of rat dorsal root ganglion neurons innervating the lower urinary tract. *J Neurosci* 23: 4355–4361, 2003. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.23-10-04355.2003.
- 102. **Yu YD, Jeong SJ.** Epidemiology of underactive bladder: Common but underresearched. *Investig Clin Urol* 58: S68–S74, 2017. doi: 10.4111/icu.2017.58.S2.S68.

VITA

AREZOO GERAMI POUR

	Born, Iran
2008-2012	B.A., Biomedical Engineering Amirkabir University of Technology , Iran
2012-2015	M.S., Biomedical Engineering Iran University of Science and Technology , Iran
2017-2021	Doctoral Candidate

, Florida

PUBLICATIONS AND PRESENTATIONS

Geramipour A and Danziger Z. C., Age is associated with reduced urethral pressure and afferent activity in rat. *Physiological Reports*, 2021. (Accepted for publication)

Florida International University

Geramipour A and Danziger Z. C. Sensitivity of urethral flow-evoked voiding reflexes decline with age in the rat: insights into age-related underactive bladder. *American Journal of Physiology-Renal Physiology* 318 (6), F1430-F1440, 2020.

Angoli D, Geramipour A, Danziger Z. C. Validation of an efficient and continuous urodynamic monitoring system for awake, unrestrained, chronic rodent studies. *American Journal of Physiology-Renal Physiology*, 318 (1), F86-F95, 2019.

Geramipour A and Danziger Z. C. Loss of urethral sensitivity leads to functional deficits in rat model: implications for age-related underactive bladder, *The Society for Pelvic Research*, 2020. Geramipour A and Danziger Z. C. Age-related reduction of urethral afferents sensitivity, *Society for Neuroscience*, Chicago, 2019.

Geramipour A and Danziger Z. C. Age-related degradation of urinary tract reflexes in rat, *Society for Neuroscience*, San Diego, 2018.

Geramipour A and Danziger Z. C. Age-Related Deficits in Sensory-Mediated Reflex Bladder Control in, *Society for Pelvic Research*, New Orleans, 2018.

Angoli D, Geramipour A, Danziger Z. C. Novel high resolution system for continuous urodynamic monitoring of bladder function in chronic rodent studies, *Society for Neuroscience*, San Diego, 2018.

Geramipour A, Siu R, and Danziger Z. C. The necessity of training and collaboration in Animal studies. *9th Annual International Conference on Ethics in Biology, Engineering, & Medicine*, Florida International University, 2018.

Geramipour A, Makki S, and Erfanian A. Neural Network Based Forward Prediction of Bladder Pressure Using Pudendal Nerve Electrical Activity. *37th Annual International Conference of The IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society (EMBS)*, Milan, Italy, 2015.

Geramipour A, Khazaei M, Marjaninejad A and Khazaei M. Design of FPGA-based Digital PID Controller Using Xilinx SysGen® For Regulating Blood Glucose Level of Type-I Diabetic Patients. *International Journal of Mechatronics, Electrical and Computer Technology*, 3(7): 56-69, 2013.

Qasemzadeh E, Khazaei M and Geramipour A. General mathematics tests for engineering students. *Rah Pablications* (in Persian), 2013.

Maleki A and Geramipour A. Continuous Control of Blood Glucose in TIDM Using Fuzzy Logic Controller in Insulin Pump: A Simulation Study. *Proceedings of IEEE international conference on control, instrumentation and automation (ICCIA), Shiraz, Iran, 2011.*